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Chairman’s Report
On behalf of the members of the Board of Directors,
it gives me pleasure to present to you this summary
report about the bank’s performance and activities
during 2016.

First: The development and general
activities program
In 2016, a number of planned projects and
programs were implemented. They are as follows
1- Business Continuity Plan
The Bank has continued developing its business
continuity plan which was initiated in 2013. In
2016, a drill has been made to ensure recovering
from any incident successfully. We have studied
the possible effects on the various departments
of the bank. An initial location has been identified
as an alternative location for work simulating the
work environment. We also organized a workshop
on addressing emergencies and carrying out
an evacuation plan. The workshop targeted the
Bank’s staff members.
2- The marketing program
Marketing is one of the main areas for the Bank to
promote the products and services rendered by the
Bank to various economic sectors in the Sultanate
by publishing advertising through various audio,
visual and print media. We have also targeted
projects at different industrial areas in the Sultanate
to promote the facilities as services rendered by
the Bank to SMEs.
On the other hand, the Bank has been very keen
on taking part in specialized seminars, exhibitions
and conferences organized in different parts of the
Sultanate.
To this end, the Bank participated in 2016 in a
number of activities and events, the most important
of which are:
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•

Organizing a forum for investment opportunities
at the Sultanate’s governorates.

•

Taking part in the seminar organized in
cooperation with the Ministry of Social
Development on women empowerment.

•

Taking part in the SMEs symposium.

•

Sponsoring the opening of a number of
projects funded by the Bank.

•

Taking part in the Omani Creations Exhibitions.

3- Human Resources
The Bank attaches great emphasis to the
development of its human resources management
system. In 2016, we have launched a mobile
application for human resources called (MenaME).
The application comes in a bid to keep pace with
the technological development in human resources
and to provide e-services for the Bank staff.

4- Information Technology

4- NPL Portfolio

Building on the progress made by the Bank in
developing its IT systems, in 2016 the Bank
implemented the database, smart MIS and
reports. It also implemented a platform to ensure
e-follow up of the Bank’s indicators. The Bank also
implemented a project for archiving documents,
meeting and correspondence management. The
Bank has also developed some of the Bank’s
e-services and automated processes.

The indicators point out that there has been a
growth in the outstanding payments to RO 8.74
million by the end of December 2016 compared
to RO 8.49 million at the end of 2015 due to the
growth in the portfolio, the introduction of new
loans and the recent circular by the CBO at which
it was requested to set 15% provision for the
restructured loans or the loans that have changed
their guarantees.

Second: Lending Performance
Loan activity is the main and core business for
the Bank. In line with the ambitious plans of the
Bank, efforts have been made to ensure improving
the loan performance of the Bank. The indicators
about this activity during the year are as follows:
1- The approved loans
During 2016, the number of loans approved by the
bank increased by 19 % to 5327 loans worth of
RO 51,299,691 compared to the loans approved
during the same period in 2015.
2- Loan disbursement
The Bank has disbursed RO 49.9 million worth
including the working capital loans RO 25.5 million
that have been disbursed by the branches. The
value of operational loans dispensed stood at RO
10.8 million.
3- Loan collection
The indicators about loan collection point that the
collection rate stood at 89% or RO 30.77 million
of the loans disbursed by the bank in addition to
RO 10.59 million that have been collected from the
working capital. Total collected loans rated 89% of
the targeted RO 34.4 million with a deficit of RO
3.6 million. The Bank also collected 69% of the
targeted RO 10.59 million of the working capital
loans.

The Non Performing Loans (total current balance /
total outstanding) decreased slightly by 2% by the
end of 2016 due to some interventions with the
non-performing loans.

Third: The financial condition
The profit and loss account of the Bank as on 31st
December 2016 shows that the net profits made
by the Bank stood at RO 2,859,331 compared to
4,200,807 in 2015.
At the end of this report, it gives me pleasure to
express utmost thanks and appreciation to His
Majesty Sultan Qaboos Bin Said and the wise
Omani government for the constant support and
care accorded to the bank.
I would also like to thank the Central Bank of Oman
for its continuous support and guidance.
My sincere thanks and appreciation to the
executive management for the effort they make to
translate the board’s policies and programs into
action plans.

Abdullah bin Salim Al Salmi
Chairman
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Economic Report

GLOBAL ECONOMY
It has been another difficult year for global
economy as economic and political uncertainty
continued to prevail during 2016 as well. The year
witnessed several events that ended up impacting
economies all over the world, for good and bad.
Policy uncertainties reigned and global trade and
investment flows subdued as a result. World Bank
Group estimated the global growth for 2016 at 2.3
percent whereas the International Monetary Fund
estimated it at 3.1%.
During the beginning of the year 2016, The
International Monetary Fund’s
(IMF) warned
that the global economic recovery would remain
modest and uneven as the world grappled with
slowing GDP in China, suppressed oil prices and
tightening monetary policy from the U.S. Federal
Reserve. As the year progressed, the global
economy has been facing new uncertainties such
as Brexit, weak job numbers in the United States,
continued deflationary pressures in Europe, and
rising corporate debt in China. An increasingly
interconnecting world makes countries vulnerable
to events in others. Seven years after the American
subprime crisis shook the whole world, global
economic shocks keep coming.
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Major events of the year include a major crash in
the Chinese stock market which quickly sent the
stocks tumbling globally. The Yuan fell to its lowest
level since March 2011 which made Chinese
exports more competitive in overseas market
and in turn made overseas investments more
expensive.
The Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries
(OPEC) cut its production for the first time since
2008 and agreed to limit the output to 33 million
barrels per day, which was followed by a similar
step from non-OPEC countries such as Russia.
Britain voted to leave the European Union (EU)
during 2016. Britain’s exit from EU is expected
to push capital away from the euro zone and
direct it towards safe markets, including the US
Treasuries, resulting in strengthening of US dollar
— and Japan. This will further lower interest rates
and raise relative currency values. A sharp rise
in the value of the US dollar against the euro will
adversely affect the US manufacturing sector. This
in turn will put additional downward pressure on
weak US growth momentum.

There were uncertainties associated with policies
of the new administration in the United States.
The new US President is considering to scrap
long-standing trade agreements such as North
American Free Trade Agreement. The devaluation
of Yuan against US dollar by China and tax to
country’s firms that move jobs overseas are also in
the scanner. Since the end of the Great Recession,
regardless of geography, a wave of populism has
affected the global economy as markets and voters
have turned inwards and questioned the benefits
of trade and immigration.
The sanctions put on the Islamic Republic of
Iran were removed during 2016 and had wide
ramifications of global economy such as increasing
their oil exports by $10 billion and the European
Union ending restrictions on Iranian trade, shipping
and insurance. Lifting banking sanctions allowed
$30 billion of foreign reserves currently frozen in
accounts around the world to be brought back to
the country.
2016 has been a tumultuous year for the energy
markets too. The average WTI crude oil prices
decreased to USD 43.33 per barrel in 2016 from
USD 48.67 per barrel in 2015. The exporters,
crushed by tumbling prices of oil and other
commodities, collectively grew just 0.2 percent
last year and 0.4 percent in 2016. The importers,
which benefit from lower raw materials prices, are
still growing at healthy rates — 5.9 percent last
year and a predicted 5.8 percent this year. There
is a clear distinction between emerging market
countries that export commodities and those that
import them. Low commodity prices continue to
vex many developing countries whose economies
depend on exports of those commodities. On
the other hand, the advanced economies are still
struggling to gain momentum as they contend
with aging workforces and lackluster productivity
growth. Euro zone growth has been constrained
by the weakness of European banks, which are still
saddled with bad debt and are not making many
new loans.

However, the economic outlook remains stable for
the year 2017, in spite of the above developments
and uncertainties. The IMF has forecasted a higher
economic growth rate of 3.5% for 2017 compared
to 3.1% of 2016. The World Bank and other similar
institutions have also published similar estimates.
Crude oil prices are also expected to improve
during 2017, furthering hopes of oil exporting
nations including Oman.

OMAN ECONOMY
Following the sustained lower crude oil prices and
subdued global growth, economic activities in the
Sultanate exhibited a slowdown during 2016. This
resulted in slowing GDP growth and increased
fiscal budget deficits though the national economy
has slightly benefited due to the decline in nonenergy commodity prices.
The State’s Budget was significantly affected by
the sharp decline of oil prices since 2014. During
2016, the State’s Public Treasury lost over 67% of
oil revenues compared to the levels of 2014, despite
higher production. Although 2016 has witnessed
the lowest traded price of Omani oil, falling below
$24 a barrel in January, the government was able
to provide the necessary funding for expenditure
and achieve good results.
The total revenue was budgeted at RO 8.6 billion
whereas the actual revenue was lower at RO7.4
billion due to a decline in oil and gas sales returns
by OMR 1.1 billion and a decline in non-oil
revenues by OMR 140 million. The average price
of oil reached about USD 39/bbl, down by 63% &
compared with USD 106/bbl in 2014. The budget
estimate was USD 45/bbl.
The total public spending for 2016 was budgeted
at RO 11.9 billion whereas the actual spending
is estimated at RO 12.65 billion. Although actual
spending was higher than estimated, it is lower
than the actual spending of 2015 by nearly RO
1.05 billion or 8%. This was the direct result of
the actions taken by the government to rationalize
expenditure. Most general spending items dropped
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from their levels in 2015, most notably subsidies
and ongoing expenses of ministries, government
agencies and defense.
Despite the severity of the challenges faced by the
Budget, the government has been able to provide
the necessary funding for spending by relying
heavily on external borrowing so that domestic
liquidity can be made available for the financing
needs of private sector in the country. Borrowing
from foreign and domestic financial institutions
and issuing Sukuk and development bonds and
treasury bills formed 72% of the required funding,
while the remaining 28% was covered by the
reserves. Rising deficits during the years 2015 and
2016 gave rise to the volume of the State’s general
debt to the GDP by the end of 2016 to 29%, which
means debt service rate will rise successively in the
coming years.
Financial sustainability and risk reduction are
considered as main targets of the Budget 2017.
The total revenues are estimated at RO 8.7 billion,
an increase of 18% over the estimated actual
revenues of 2016, consisting of oil and gas revenues
of RO 6.11 billion (70%) and nonoil revenues
of RO 2.59 billion(30%). Total general spending
was estimated at RO 11.7 billion, a decrease of
RO 200 million (or 2%) from the estimated 2016
expenditure. Budget deficit is estimated at almost
RO 3 billion, about 12% of the GDP. RO 2.5
billion out of the budgeted deficit will be funded
through external and domestic borrowing and the
remaining will be funded through withdrawals from
reserves, external borrowing in US Dollars, issuing
international bonds and pooled commercial loans
and Sukuk.
Broader Objectives of the 2017 budget includes
ensuring the financial sustainability of the country,
instigating growth and sustainable operation,
stability of citizens’ standard of living, catalyzing
the privatization program and the national
economic diversification program “Tanfeeth” while
focusing on financial Planning and discipline. The
budget envisages reduction in deficit and general

10

expenditure, activating non-oil revenues and
stimulating private sector investment. Priorities
of the budget also include controlling inflation
to maintain per capita income level, providing
necessary funds for government agencies,
improving investment climate, enhancing the role
of the private sector and increasing investment
rate in the GDP.
Support specifically to SMEs sector will continue
by awarding them a share of government
activities and projects, speeding up their allocated
payments and continuing to offer lending through
Al-Rafad Fund and Oman Development Bank. The
Budget also aims at maintaining achievements in
the Education, Health and Social Welfare Sectors
by allocating 23% (RO 2.7 billion) of the general
expenditure.
Reliance will mainly be on private sector companies
and institutions to create job opportunities for Omani
youth through the establishment of investment
projects. National Training Fund envisages to
build the capabilities of the Omani workforce in
the private sector and to provide ample learning
opportunities.
The National Economic Diversification Program
“Tanfeeth” was adopted to improve investment
climate and facilitate business practices that
promote economic diversification and attract
local and foreign investments. Phase one of
Tanfeeth Program covered three key sectors:
manufacturing industries, tourism and logistics,
along with the supporting sectors [(finance and
innovative financing) and (operation and labor
market)]. Phase one brought 121initiatives and
projects to be implemented starting from 2017.
Moreover, output from phase one is expected to
contribute in raising the GDP by more than RO 1.7
billion, alongside creating job opportunities (nearly
30,000) for Omanis.
Looking ahead, a new public-private partnership
(PPP) law is expected during 2017, with the aim of
speeding up delivery on projects and encouraging

more private sector participation. The government
has already explored expanding the use of PPPs in
a number of sectors.
Oman’s credit rating, which dropped from (A)
in 2014 to (A-) and (BBB-) in 2015 and 2016
respectively, is expected to improve as a result
of the various initiatives envisaged in the budget
in line with positive estimates from the IMF. The
upward momentum is expected to come from a
modest recovery in oil prices, combined with the
effects of ongoing reform efforts and strategies
aimed at enhancing non-oil activity.
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Technical Report on the Bank’s
performance in 2016

RO million
Statement

Branches

Corporate
branch

Total

Approvals

Disbursed

Collection

Budgeted

34.72

27.96

20.69

Realized

27.76

25.54

20.97

Realized /
budgeted

80%

91%

101%

Budgeted

55.80

38.00

29.00

Realized

23.53

21.36

20.4

Realized /
budgeted

42%

56%

70%

Budget

90.52

65.96

49.69

Realized

51.29

49.90

41.37

Realized /
budgeted

57%

76%

83%

Gross Loans

Past Dues

77.81

5.07
NPL
6.9%

48.97

3.66
NPL
7.5%

126.78

8.74
NPL
6.5%

(1) Loan Approval
Branches and Corporate Branch
The loan approval indicators show that there has been a growth in the number of loans. The Bank approved
5,327 loans during the period from January to December 2016; a growth by 19% compared to the number
of loans approved during the same period in 2015.
The total value of the loans approved during the period from January to December 2016, including the
working capital loans, stood at RO 51.29 million; a growth by 11% compared to the same period last year.
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Approvals Jan – December 2016 – branch-wise
Jan- December 2016
Branch

Change/Growth
%

Jan – December 2015

No

%

Amount

%

No

RO

No

RO

897

17%

5,302,262

10%

927

4,315,983

-3%

23%

Batinah Region

2,382

6%

12,685,732

25%

1,550

7,952,289

54%

60%

Sharqiyah Region

4836

36%

9,780,803

19%

1540

7,633,966

214%

28%

Total Branches

4861

91%

27,768,797

54%

4017

19,902,238

21%

40%

466

9%

23,530,894

46%

446

26,351,587

4%

-11%

5327*

100%

51,299,691

100%

4463

46,253,825

19%

11%

Muscat & Dhofar

Corporate
Total

Approvals during the period from Jan to December 2016 – Region-Wise

Change / Growth percentage (Jan- December) 2015 and 2016
No. of Loans

Amount

40%

21%

Branches

4%

-11%
Corporate

19%
11%

Total
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Technical Report on the Bank’s Performance (continued)
Approvals during the period from Jan to December 2016 – Region-Wise
Jan to December 2016

Jan to December 2015

No

%

RO

%

No

RO

Muscat

510

10%

13,747,606

27%

450

12,217,216

Dhofar

631

12%

3,514,369

7%

731

4,869,355

North al Batinah

865

16%

7,628,855

15%

624

6,222,034

South al Batinah

550

10%

4,969,622

10%

341

2,565,788

Al Dhahirah

206

4%

1,733,575

3%

165

1,992,334

Al Dakhiliyah

220

4%

5,363,172

10%

182

3,955,214

Al Wusta

271

5%

1,068,591

2%

246

843,080

Musandam

636

12%

2,380,380

5%

282

1,314,760

Al Buraimi

235

4%

2,390,000

5%

240

2,259,000

North al Sharqiyah

237

4%

2,527,685

5%

258

2,176,676

South Al Sharqiyah

966

18%

5,975,836

12%

944

7,838,368

5,327

100%

51,299,691

100%

4,463

46,253,825

Total

The total value of the loans approved for Muscat Governorate stood at RO 13.75 million or 27% of the total
value of the loan portfolio; a growth by 12.5% compared to the previous year.
27% of the total value of the loans worth of RO 12.59 million has been approved for South and North al
Batinah Governorates; a growth by 43% compared to the previous year.
23% of the total value of the loans or RO 8.5 million worth loans have been approved for North al Sharqiyah
Region; a decline by almost 15% compared to the previous year.
The remainder loans were distributed to the other regions as shown in this chart.

%Growth in the value
13%

Muscat

Dhofar -28%
23% North Al Batinah

South
94% Al Batinah

Al Dhahirah -13%
36% Al Dakhiliyah
27% Al Wusta

81% Musandam

North
Al Sharqiyah -24%

-40

14

-20

6% Al Buraimi
16% South Al Sharqiyah

0

20

40

60

80

100

Approvals during January – December 2016, sector-wise
The approvals have been distributed into a number of sectors. The number of beneficiaries from the
agricultural, animal and fisheries loans during sector wise distribution of approved loans in 2016 stood at
47% of the total number of beneficiaries, including 28% for fisheries projects or RO 5.8 million worth loans
or 11% of the total value of the loans approved. This is a decline by -17% compared to the same period
last year. This is attributed to stopping government subsidy to boats and fishing equipment. 19% of the
total value of the loans or RO 6.94 million worth loans or 14% of the value of the loans approved went to
the agricultural sector; a growth by 38% compared to the previous year.
The industry sector received 2050 loans or 45% of the total value of the loans. This increase is attributed
to reclassification of the manufacturing activities based on the national manual for classifying industrial
activities which was recently approved in defining the bank products. The tourism and professional services
sector received 19% of the total value of the loans.
Approval Jan – December 2016 – Sector-wise
Jan- December
2015

January-December 2016
Sector

No

%

RO

%

Agriculture and animal
wealth

1020

19%

6,941,020

Fisheries

1468

28%

5,843,450

130

2%

Health services
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Tourism services

Educational services

Professional and general
services

% 2015 and
2016

No

RO

14%

797

5,022,325

28%

11%

1551

7,017,477

-5% -17%

3,715,023

7%

89

1,844,145

46% 101%

0%

1,891,500

4%

35

2,604,570

-49% -27%

60

1%

5,877,590

11%

59

5,887,926

581

11%

3,856,714

8%

177

816,390

23,174,394

45%

1755 23,060,992

17%

0%

51,299,691 100%

4463 46,253,825

19%

11%

Industry

2050

38%

Total

5327

100%

No Value

2%

38%

0%

227% 372%

Approved loan amounts - Sector wise
23.17

6.94

5.87
1.89

Health

Tourism

3.72

3.85

Education

Professional
and general
services

Agriculture
and animal
wealth

5.84

Fisheries

Industry

(in million)
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Technical Report on the Bank’s Performance (continued)
Product wise distribution of loan approvals - 2016
Approvals during Jan – December 2016- product wise
January-December
2015

January-December 2016
Product

No

Major loans
Medium loans

RO

%

No

RO

19

0% 12,365,000

24%

19

11,757,000

0%

5%

19

0%

3,791,000

7%

23

4,086,000

-17%

-7%

Small loans

253

5%

7,089,245

14%

231

5,860,402

10%

21%

Very small loans

789

15%

3,287,530

6%

735

2,934,093

7%

12%

3760

71% 13,938,362

27%

3040

11,058,720

24%

26%

487

9% 10,828,554

21%

415

10,557,610

17%

3%

5327 100% 51,299,691 100%

4463

46,253,825

19%

11%

Interest-free very small
loans
Working capital and
seasonal loans
Total

%

%
No Value

Product wise distribution of loans approved during 2016
Approvals during Jan – December 2016- product wise

Value of loans - product wise
Working capital and
seasonal loans 21%
or RO 10.8 million

Interest free micro finance
27% or RO 13.9 million

Micro finance with interests
7% or RO 3.3 million

Corporate loans
24% or RO 12.4 million

Medium loans
7% or RO 3.8 million

Small loans
14% or RO 7.1 million

The total value of the interest-free very small loans stood at RO 13.94 million or 27% of the total value of
the loans approved by the bank.
The total value of the loans approved for key projects and their expansions stood at RO 12.36 million or
24% of the total value of the loans.
The value of the working capital loans stood at RO 10.8 million or 21% of the total value of the loans during
the period from January to December 2016.
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(2) Performance against targets
1- Approvals
Approvals as per the budget , from Jan – December 2016
Statement

Branches
Targeted

Development loans

Corporate Branch

Realized (2) (2)/(4)

Targeted

Total

Realized (4) (4)/(3)

Targeted

Realized (6) (6)/(5)

approvals (1)

approvals (3)

approvals (5)

32,760,000 27,605,137 84%

44,000,000

12,860,000 29%

76,760,000

40,465,137 53%

11,800,000

10,670,894 90%

13,765,000

10,828,554 79%

55,800,000

23,530,894 42%

90,525,000

51,293,691 57%

*seasonal and
working capital
loans

1,965,000

Total

157,660

8%

34,725,000 27,762,797 80%

* Seasonal loans for branches

Approvals (RO million)
Disability

Achieved
Total value of the loans
approved by the bank 51.29

-39.20

-5.15

Development loans
for branches 27.6
Development loans for
corporate 12.8

-31.1

-2.9

Working capital and
seasonal loans10.82

The total value of the targeted loans during 2016 stood at RO 90.5 million including the working capital
and seasonal loans. RO 51.29 million worth loans or 57% of the total value of the targeted loans have been
approved. The percentage of the realized aims for the branches from 2016 budget stood at 80% compared
to 42% for the corporate branch.
The lower level of achievement against the target is due to low economic activity. Also, the bank adopted
an ambitious loans policy that is based on the assumptions that the Bank regulations related to loan cap will
be approved. The plan was not approved therefore the prospective aims have not been achieved.
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Technical Report on the Bank’s Performance (continued)

2- Disbursement
Disbursement as per the budget , from Jan – December 2016
Statement

Branches
Targeted
Disbursement (1)

Development
loans

Realized (2) 2/1

27,300,000 25,387,347 93%

Targeted
Disbursement (3)

Realized (4) (4/5)

Total
Targeted
Disbursement (5)

Realized (6) (6/5)

22,000,000 10,687,982 49%

49,300,000 36,075,329 73%

156,886 24%

16,000,000 10,670,894 67%

16,660,000 10,827,780 65%

27,960,000 25,544,233 91%

38,000,000 21,358,876 56%

65,960,000 49,903,109 76%

*seasonal
and working
capital loans
Total

Corporate Branch

660,000

*seasonal loans for the branches

Disbursment of Development Loans,
January to December 2016 (RO million)
Shortfall

Achievement

-1.9 Branches 25.4

-11.3 Corporate Branch 10.7

-13.2 Total 36.1

The total value of the loans disbursed during 2016 stood at about RO 49.9 million including RO 25.5 million
disbursed by branches. If we compare the actual disbursement to the estimated budget, excluding the
amounts disbursed for working capital loans, the total value of the loans disbursed stood at RO 36.07
million. This means that the bank achieved 73% of the development loans allocated in the budget (RO 49.3
million from Jan to December 2016). This means that the deficit in loan disbursement stands at RO 13.2
million.
As for the working capital loans, RO 10.8 million or 65% of the total value of the loans estimated at the
budget (RO 16.6 million) were disbursed during the period from Jan to December 2016.
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3- Collection
Collection against budget Jan to December 2016
Item

Branches
Targeted
collection 1

Development
loans

20,437,000

Realized 2

Corporate Branch
2/1

20,910,917 102%

Targeted
collection 3

Realized 4

Total
4/3

Targeted
collection 5

Realized 6

6/5

14,000,000

9,869,039

70% 34,437,000 30,779,956 89%

15,000,000

10,535,047

70% 15,254,300 10,595,024 69%

29,000,000

20,404,086

70% 49,691,300 41,374,980 83%

*seasonal and
working capital

254,300

59,976

24%

loans
Total

20,691,300

20,970,893 101%

*seasonal loans for the branches
The development loans collection indicator pointed out that the collection rate stood at 89% or RO 30.77
million of the Bank’s without the working capital loans or 89% of the targeted amount, RO 34.4 million or a
deficit of RO 3.6 million.
The working capital loan collection points out that 69% of the targeted loans at the budget or RO 10.59
have been collected.
The Bank performance (development loans+ working capital), realized/ targeted, Jan to
December 2016.

Total 83%
Collection

Corporate 70%
Branches 101%
Total 76%

Disbursement

Corporate 56%
Branches 91%
Total 57%

Approval

Corporate 42%
Branches 80%
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Technical Report on the Bank’s Performance (continued)
(1) Performance of the Loan Portfolio (RO million)
Balances

Outstanding

PD

%

Portfolio as of the end of 2016

126,788

8,742

6.9%

Portfolio as of the end of 2015

120,647

8,490

7.04%

+5%

+2.9%

-2%

Change / growth rate

The existing balances of the loan portfolio as of the end of December 2016 stood at RO 126.78 million
compared to RO 120.64 million as of the end of 2015; a growth by RO 6.11 million or 5%.
The existing balances for the branches stood at RO 77.8 million or 61% of the existing balances, as of the
end of December 2016.

Total

Corporate

Branches
20,000,000 40,000,000 60,000,000 80,000,000 100,000,000 120,000,000 140,000,000 160,000,000

Branches

Corporate

Past Due

5,075,925

3,666,334

8,742,259

Outstanding

77,812,970

48,975,348

126,788,318

Total

The outstanding payments indicators pointed out that there is a growth in due payment which increased to
RO 8.74 million as of the end of December 2016 compared to RO 8.49 million as of the end of 2015. This
is attributed to the growth in the size of the portfolio which was coupled with including new loans under this
category and the Central Bank of Oman’s circular which directed allocating 15% provision for the loans that
have been restructured or that have witnessed changes in their guarantees.

20

Default %
7.04%

6.90%

December 2015

December 2016

The percentage of the default (total past due / total outstanding) declined by only 2% compared to the
previous years; thanks to the interventions made with some NPLs.
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Strategic Initiatives - 2016
The bank’s strategy focuses on expanding the
services rendered by increasing products, seasonal
loans and services to SMEs. It is expected that
Oman Development Bank will extend the coverage
to include bigger loans, especially a Royal Decree
is expected to be issued to increase the loan cap
and diversify the bank’s products and services.
A number of planned projects have been completed
including updating the manual procedures, the
evaluation of the business continuity plan and
the restructuring of work procedures, which was
aimed at enhancing the bank’s organizational
capability. The bank has also implemented a
number of projects related to updating its data,
information system and administrative reports.
It has also developed its e-services through the
website and SMSs and successfully automated
banking operations.
With regard to the bank’s efforts to develop a
standard identity for all its branches, the bank is
working on rehabilitating its branches and shifting
some of the branches to a more strategic location.
As for the business continuity plan, which was
initiated in 2013, a stress test has been conducted
during the year to ensure the ability of the system
to overcome disruptions and disaster. The bank
has studied the effects of such incidents on various
departments, and has selected an alternate
location to simulate the working environment. It has
also conducted a workshop on how to deal with
disaster incidents and also carry out an evacuation
plan for a number of the bank’s staff.
With regard to the Bank’s endeavors to update
and develop its Human Resource Systems,
the bank has completed the launch of the new
application for the Human Resource Management
(MenaME), to meet the needs of the bank’s staff.
The application enables staff to access the Human
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Resource System from anywhere and also process
their administrative and financial transactions. This
will enable the bank to keep pace with technological
developments, and provide high quality e-services
to its staff.
In terms of updating the bank’s IT systems, in 2016
Oman Development Bank implemented a project
to update its database, information systems and
smart reports. It also created a platform to follow up
the various performance indicators electronically.
The bank also introduced a system for managing
correspondence, archiving documents and
managing meetings. It also developed some
e-services and automation of the banking services.
On the marketing side, the bank focused on taking
part in a number of specialized workshops, fairs,
seminars and conferences. The major events
which Oman Development Bank participated in
during the year include:
-

Organizing the investment opportunities forum
at the different governorates.

-

Taking part in the Women’s Economic
Empowerment Seminar which was organized
in collaboration with the Ministry of Social
Development.

-

Taking part at the SMEs Development Seminar.

-

Sponsoring the launch of some projects
financed by the bank.

-

Taking part in Omani Innovations Exhibitions.

-

Sponsoring a seminar for the development
of social security and limited income families.
The seminar was organized by the Ministry of
Social Development.

-

Sponsoring Badiyah Tourism Forum.

-

Sponsoring the Women’s Leadership Forum.

The bank also organized a number of events at the

•

Database, MIS and administrative reporting
system.

•

Completing the implementation
correspondence, document and
management systems.

•

Adding new features to the Human Resource
system.

•

Managing and following up the assets of the
projects funded by the Bank.

•

Fixing the e-installment payment and balance
inquiry devices.

•

Fixing a system to manage the operational
risks that follow all the operational risks of the
bank.

This is a summary of the major initiatives in 2017

•

1. Oman Development Bank’s Strategy 20172021

Implementation of a new automated provision
system.

•

Completing that Loan Workflow for Branches.

2. Improving Operations

•

Completing the Data Warehouse and BI Tools.

industrial estates in different parts of the Sultanate
to promote the services and facilities rendered by
the bank to SMEs.
In a bid to enhance the bank’s presence in media,
a number of advertisements about the bank’s
services and products were aired through local
radio stations. The bank also continued publishing
advertisements in local newspapers, specialized
magazines and social networks in a bid to
maximize awareness of the active and key role
played by the bank to finance different economic
sectors. Oman Development Bank also issued a
number of publications, handouts and promotion
material on its services and products.

of the
meeting

3. Enhancing e-services
4. Human Resource Development
5. Enhance working capital products (including
agricultural/seasonal loans)
6. Expansion of the automated clearing and
collection system of checks, and collection
system of amounts through bank cards.
7. Opening of new branches and strengthening
the infrastructure of branches.
8. Enhancing the performance of departments
and branches.
9. Diversifying the bank’s products and services.
10. Continuing the registration of financial,
economic, accounting and record keeping
consultancy service offices.

IT Development Scheme
The plan to develop IT at the bank includes:
•

Restructuring and redesigning of the bank’s
website

•

Providing e-services through internet and SMS

•

Completion of procurement Warehouses Fixed
Asset Management and Budget systems.
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Corporate Governance Report
Oman Development Bank (ODB) for the financial year ended 31/12/2016
Pursuant to Royal Decree No. 18/2006, which has
amended the Royal Decree No.18/97 stipulating
the establishment of the Bank and its annexure,
the Bank was converted into a SAOC company.
Accordingly, ODB shall not be subject to the
Capital Market Authority’s (CMA) circular No.
16/2003 issued on 30/7/2003 concerning the joint
stock company’s Articles of Association. However,
the Bank shall be subject to the commercial
companies’ law No. 74/4 and its amendments
which grants the Secretariat of Commercial
Register the authority to monitor and supervise the
work of closed joint stock companies.
Also, ODB’s Articles of Association are in conformity
with the said articles as the Bank is 100% owned
by the Government of the Sultanate of Oman.
The Board of Directors (BoD) ensured that the
report is in line with the Corporate Governance
charter for the joint stock companies issued in July
2015.
The ODB Corporate Governance report fairly
reflects implementation of the Code of Corporate
Governance (CCG) provisions, and is free from any
material misrepresentation. It is worth mentioning
that these procedures do not constitute an audit or
a review made in accordance with the International
Audit Standards (IAS).
The report was prepared in accordance with
Articles 26 & 27 of the CCG and is in direct relation
with the Board of Directors’ report included in
the ODB Annual Report for the year ended on
31/12/2016. This report does not include any
financial statements of the bank.

ODB Philosophy:
ODB is committed to implement the circular No.
BM/932 issued by the Central Bank of Oman

(CBO) on 4/2/2002 and CMA Circular No. 11/2002
concerning the Corporate Governance structure,
without prejudice to the provisions of Royal Decree
No. 18/97 of formation of Oman Development
Bank, which was amended by the Royal Decree
No. 18/2006 and its annexure.
The Bank adopts sound Corporate Governance
practices that are praised by all related parties.
As well, ODB is in the process to prepare and
develop its internal regulations. Following are
ODB’s prominent characteristics of Corporate
Governance:
1. The role and responsibilities of the Board of
Directors (BoD).
BoD is responsible for developing the
operational rules and regulations, direct and
supervise the management performance.
Furthermore, the role of BoD includes the
following:
• Drafting and developing policies.
• Supervision of core businesses of the bank.
• Overseeing policies implementation and
ensuring their compliance with laws and
regulations.
• Ensure transparency and credibility in
reporting to Government authorities.
• Nurturing proper and ethical behavior.
• Approving and implementing disclosure
policy and monitoring its compliance with
regulatory requirements.
• Reviewing material transactions with the
related parties, which are not in the ordinary
course of business.
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• Nominating the members of the BoD
sub committees, specifying their roles,
responsibilities and authorities.
• Appointment of General Manager and other
key executives for managerial level and
upwards, specify their roles, responsibilities,
powers and remuneration.
• Evaluating the function of sub committees,
General Manager and key employees.
• Approving interim and annual financial
statements.
• Reporting annually to the government
about the status of the Bank and providing
necessary advice on the measures needed
to promote the Bank’s performance.
• Approving regulations and internal control
that regularized the bank performance and
its employees’ affairs.
2. The Role and Responsibilities of the
Executive Management:
• Manage the Bank’s operations in line with
the policies and strategies approved by
BoD.
• Assisting BoD in policy formulation
• Implementation of laws, regulations and
circulars that govern the bank business.
• Implementation of BoD approved policies
and regulations.
• Preparing
detailed
programs
and
procedures required to implement the
approved policies.
• Preparing major contract projects according
to the business requirements.
• Preparing the draft balance sheet.
• Preparing annual activities report for the
previous fiscal year.
• Nurturing proper and ethical behavior
• Submitting to the Board of Directors’
accurate and detailed reports on bank’s
activities.
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3. Internal Control
adequacy:

Systems

and

their

• The BoD has set up an Audit Committee
which comprises of three Directors. This
committee supervises the functions of the
Internal Audit Unit to ensure compliance with
the directives of the concerned authorities
like State Audit Institution, Central Bank of
Oman, and Capital Market Authority as well
as to ensure conformity with the approved
international audit systems and procedures.
• The BoD emphasized that no transaction
in the Bank may be processed by a single
official but rather through a minimum of
two officials. Similarly, there is sufficient
control exercised on IT security systems. In
general, all the BoD adopted administrative
control measures are adequate, practical
and sufficient.
• The compliance by law has been approved
by the Bank and it is currently in force.

The Board of Directors:
ODB is managed by a Board of Directors consisting
of a Chairman and four Directors representing the
Ministries of Finance, the Ministry of Commerce &
Industry and the Ministry of Agriculture & Fisheries.
Two experienced and qualified independent
members were nominated by the Annual General
Assembly - as per the provision of the Royal Decree
18/97 establishing ODB.

The Audit Committee:
The BoD approved the code of audit committee
by virtue of its decision No. 17/2003 issued on
16/6/2003 amended by the BoD decision No.
22/2010 on 10/1/2010. The most important
functions and authorities of Audit Committee (AC)
are:
1. Ensure the Bank’s compliance with the laws,
regulations and code of ethics developed by
the Bank.

Corporate Governance Report (continued)
2. Supervision over internal audit. Maintain effective relationship between the board, the executive
management, external auditors and internal auditors.
3. Enhance communication with external auditors through effective communication with them, ensuring
their independence and ensuring that they are not affected by the Bank’s management.
Details of the Directors’ attendance to the Audit Committee meetings during 2016:
Meeting
No.

Date

Mr. Hosni bin Fuad
Tubaileh

Mr. Sabir bin Said
Al Harbi

Mr. Ahmed bin Ali
Al Shanfari

1st

26/1/2016

Yes

Yes

Yes

Meeting
No

Date

Mr. Abdul Salam bin
Nasser Al Kharousi

Eng. Nahla bint
Abdul Wahab
Al Hamdy

Mr. Ali bin
Mohammed bin
Juma Al Lawati

2nd

27/4/2016

Yes

Yes

Yes

3rd

6/6/2016

Yes

Yes

Yes

4th

24/10/2016

Yes

Yes

Yes

5th

08/12/2016

Yes

Yes

Yes

4- Risk Management Committee
The committee comprises three board members.
Meeting
No.

Date

Mr. Ali bin
Mohammed bin
Juma Al Lawati

Mr. Saleh bin
Mohammed bin
Saleh Al Abri

Mrs. Zayana bint
Mohammed bin
Khamis Al Rashedy

1st

18/04/2016

Yes

Yes

Yes

2nd

09/5/2016

Yes

Yes

Yes

3rd

18/10/2016

Yes

Yes

Yes

4th

28/12/2016

Yes

Yes

No

Remuneration:
The following amounts were paid during 2016 to the Directors and the five senior staff of the Bank:
* The sitting fees paid for the Board of Directors are:
The meeting

Amount paid

BoD meeting

RO 23,500

Audit Committee Meetings

RO 3,500

Risk Committee Meetings

RO 2,750

Total

RO 29,750
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* The proposed remuneration for the Board of Directors for 2017 = RO 40,000
* The total amount of salaries and allowances of the top five senior staff during 2016 is RO 381,492
The fees and remunerations paid and proposed to the Board of Directors to be paid in accordance with
the provisions of the Commercial Companies Law No. 4/74 and its amendments, and in particular, the
amendments stipulated by the provisions of Royal Decree No. 99/2005 promulgated on 28/11/2005.
The Board of Directors consisting of a Chairman, and four members representing the public organizations
which are stated as members in the Royal decree, establishing the Bank and two independent experienced,
qualified members (all BoD members are qualified and of high and long experience). Below is a list of the
Board of Directors:
Independent members

Members nominated by their organizations

H.E. Sheikh Abdullah bin Salem
Al Salmi
Chairman

Mr. Abdul Salam bin Nasser bin Abdullah Al Kharusi
Deputy chairman, Representative of the Ministry of Finance

Mr. Hilal bin Hamad bin Seif
Al Busaidi
Independent Member

Eng. Nahla bint Abdul Wahab bin Ahmed Al Hamdy
Representative of the Ministry of Commerce and Industry

Mr. Ali bin Mohammed bin Juma
Al Lawati
Independent Member

Mr. Saleh bin Mohammed bin Saleh Al Abri
Representative of the Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries
Mrs. Zayanah bint Mohammed Al Rashedy
Representative of the Ministry of Finance

Board of Directors meetings during 2016
Meeting
No.

Date

1st

26/1/2016

Number &

H.E. Sheikh Mr. Hosni Mr. Ahmed
Abdullah
bin Fouad
bin Ali
bin Salem
Tubaileh Al Shanfari
Al Salmi
Present

H.E. Sheikh Mr. Abdul

date of the Abdullah bin Salam bin
meeting

2nd
22/3/2016
3rd
24/4/2016

28

Salem

Nasser

Al Salmi

Al Kharousi

Dr.
Abdullah
bin Ali
Al Hanai

Dr.
Abdullah
bin Ali
Al Maawali

Mr. Sabir
bin Said
Al Harbi

Present

Present

Present

Mr. Hilal bin

Mr. Ali bin

Present

Present

Eng. Nahla

Eng.

Mrs.

Saleh bin

Zayanah bint

Hamad

Mohammed

Mohammed Mohammed

bin Seif

bin Juma

Al Rashedy

Al Busaidi

Al Lawati

bint Abdul
Wahab bin
Ahmed

bin Saleh

Al Hamdy

Al Abri

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Corporate Governance Report (continued)
4th
13/6/2016
5th
31/08/2016
6th
14/11/2016
7th
1/12/2016

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Absent

Present

Present

Present

Present

Absent

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

• H.E. Sheikh Abdullah Salem Al Salmi was appointed Chairman of the Board of Director as per the
Council of Minister’s decision No. 17/2015 dated 04/05/2015.
• The 1st meeting in 2016 was attended by the former board members and it was the last meeting for
this Board. The Board has been reformed as per the Council of Minister’s decision during its session
No. 7/2016 dated 23/2/2016. The new Board’s 1st meeting was the 2nd meeting No. 2/2016 which
was held on 22/3/2016.

Details of non-compliance with the regulations and penalties:
During the year 2016, the Bank was in full compliance with the requirements of regulatory authorities
including the Financial and Administrative State Audit Institution, the Central Bank of Oman, and Capital
Market Authority. No penalties or substantial criticism was received from any authority during the past three
years, except few observations by the Financial and Administrative State Audit Institution and CBO’s regular
inspection report. The Bank is addressing these remarks promptly.

Means of communication with the shareholders (the government) and investors:
ODB is in direct contact with shareholders who is the Ministry of Finance, Sultanate of Oman. It also
publishes its annual and quarterly statements in two newspapers in Arabic and English. It also sends a copy
of the Bank reports to the CMA.

Professional profile of the statutory auditor for 2016:
Price Waterhouse Coopers (PWC) is one of the prominent audit companies with operations in 157 countries.
The company employs 223,000 people who provide high quality audit, tax and consultancy services. PWC
also provide training for the companies and provide professional certificates through its PWC Academy.
PWC was established in the Middle East 40 years ago with operations in Bahrain, Egypt, Iraq, Jordan,
Kuwait, Lebanon, Libya, Oman, Palestinian Territories, Qatar, Saudi Arabia and U.A.E. More than 4000 staff
are working in the ME region.
PWC operations in the Sultanate of Oman spans 45 years, working in partnership with four partners, one
of which includes an Omani partner. The team comprises of over 140 employees.
The company has reliable experience in audit, tax and consultancy areas and can merge between its local
and global experiences.
PWC is a member of PWC network and/or one of the biggest companies in the group. The company has
an independent legal entity.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016

2016
RO

2015
RO

397,719
19,519,464
113,814,806
25,219,622
1,160,220
7,435,356
1,260,823
1,433,345
170,241,355

744,938
24,803,898
110,148,490
27,963,908
1,568,354
4,227,485
1,434,730
687,211
171,579,014

12
13
14

588,930
75,598
4,728,959
5,393,487

622,341
1,575,602
7,622,758
9,820,701

16
17
18

100,000,000
6,866,914
1,048,827
5,541,048
51,391,079
164,847,868
170,241,355

100,000,000
6,580,981
818,603
5,541,048
48,817,681
161,758,313
171,579,014
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1.648

1.618

Note
ASSETS
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Oman
Balances due from other banks
Loans and advances to customers
Investments
Staff housing loans
Receivable from Government
Property and equipment
Prepayments and other receivables
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Customer deposits (Izdihar)
Payable to Government
Payables and accruals
Total Liabilities
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital
Legal reserve
Investment revaluation reserve
Special reserve
Retained earnings
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Net assets value per share

5
6
7
8
9
10
11

The financial statements including notes and other explanatory information on pages 38 to 73 were
approved by the directors on 30 January 2017 and were signed on their behalf by:

Abdullah Bin Salim Al Salim			
Dr. Abdulaziz Bin Mohammed Al Hinai
Chairman					Chief Executive Officer
Independent auditor’s report - page 31 to 33.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

Note
Interest income

19

Interest expense
Net interest income

2016

2015

RO

RO

7,344,918

7,658,995

(8,169)

(12,404)

7,336,749

7,646,591

Fees, commission and other income

20

4,270,925

4,205,768

Investment income - net

21

876,843

388,827

12,484,517

12,241,186

(6,860,301)

(7,496,817)

5,624,216

4,744,369

Net operating income
General and administrative expenses

22

Operating profit before loan impairment charges and
allowance for customer relationship account
Loan impairment charges

6

(2,732,925)

(548,123)

Impairment (charge)/reversal for customer relationship
accounts

11

(31,960)

4,561

Net profit for the year

24

2,859,331

4,200,807

230,224

145,429

3,089,555

4,346,236

0.029

0.042

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Change in fair value of available for sale investments
Total comprehensive income for the year
Basic and diluted earnings per share

30

The notes and other explanatory information on pages 38 to 73 form an integral part of these financial
statements.
Independent auditor’s report - page 31 to 33.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

Share
capital
RO

Legal
reserve
RO

Investment
revaluation
reserve
RO

Special
reserve
RO

Retained
earnings
RO

Total
RO

100,000,000

6,160,900

673,174

5,541,048

45,036,955

157,412,077

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-

4,200,807

4,200,807

Changes in fair
value of investments

-

-

145,429

-

-

145,429

Total comprehensive
income

-

-

145,429

-

4,200,807

4,346,236

Transfer to legal
reserve

-

420,081

-

-

(420,081)

-

At 31 December
2015

100,000,000

6,580,981

818,603

5,541,048

48,817,681

161,758,313

At 1 January 2016 100,000,000

6,580,981

818,603

5,541,048

48,817,681

161,758,313

At 1 January 2015

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-

2,859,331

2,859,331

Changes in fair
value of investments

-

-

230,224

-

-

230,224

Total
comprehensive
income

-

-

230,224

-

2,859,331

3,089,555

Transfer to legal
reserve

-

285,933

-

-

(285,933)

-

100,000,000

6,866,914

1,048,827

5,541,048

51,391,079

164,847,868

At 31 December
2016

The notes and other explanatory information on pages 38 to 73 form an integral part of these financial
statements.
Independent auditor’s report - page 31 to 33.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

2016
RO

2015
RO

2,859,331

4,200,807

411,706
2,732,925
(2,542)
(563,923)
(312,920)
(31,960)

414,505
548,123
(8,588)
(729,394)
340,567
4,561

5,092,617

4,770,581

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Loans and advances to customers
Staff housing loans
Prepayments and other receivables
Customer deposit (Izdihar)
Receivable from Government - net
Payables and accruals
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities

(6,399,241)
408,134
(714,174)
(33,411)
(4,707,875)
(2,893,799)
(9,247,749)

(1,809,681)
(89,283)
(344,250)
(1,382,069)
(4,225,460)
4,212,289
1,132,127

Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
Short term deposits
Realised investment income – net
Balances with investment managers
Movement in investments
Net cash generated from investing activities

(240,062)
4,805
(3,000,000)
563,923
995,098
3,287,430
1,611,194

(281,095)
11,607
729,394
(796,520)
706,512
369,898

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

(7,636,555)
24,165,641
16,529,086

1,502,025
22,663,616
24,165,641

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Oman
Capital Deposit with Central Bank of Oman
Balances due from other banks (note 5)
Balances with investment managers (note 5)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

397,719
(50,000)
16,519,464
(338,097)
16,529,086

744,938
(50,000)
24,803,898
(1,333,195)
24,165,641

Operating activities
Net profit for the year
Adjustments:
Depreciation of property and equipment
Net movement in allowance for impaired debts
Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Realised investment income - net
Change in fair value of held for trading investment
Net movement in allowance for customer relationship accounts
Operating profit before changes in operating assets and
liabilities

The notes and other explanatory information on pages 38 to 73 form an integral part of these financial
statements.
Independent auditor’s report - page 31 to 33.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

1 Legal status and principal activities
Oman Development Bank SAOC (the Bank) was established under the Royal Decree Number 18/97, as
a joint stock company on 9 April 1997. The Bank operates in Oman under a banking license issued by
the Central Bank of Oman (CBO). The Bank has 18 (2015: 18) branches within the Sultanate of Oman.
The registered address of the Bank is P.O. Box 3077, Ruwi, Postal Code 112, Sultanate of Oman. The
the Bank is 100% owned by the Government of the Sultanate of Oman.
The Bank is principally engaged in providing loans to development projects, primarily involved in the
activities of agriculture, fisheries, livestock, industrial resources, information technology, educational
colleges, health, tourism, professional activities, workshops and traditional industrial craftsmanship in
the Sultanate of Oman. The Banks achieves its objective by granting loans, administering grants and
subsidies, participating in share capital to companies registered under the Commercial Companies
Law of Oman and other enterprises, and carrying out other banking activities. In accordance with its
objectives, interest on loans and advances is charged to the customers at a rate which is subsidized
by the Government of the Sultanate of Oman. In addition the Bank also acts as agent on behalf of the
Government of Sultanate of Oman in respect of:
(a) the distribution and collection of Government soft loans;
(b) the disbursement of amounts from the Agriculture and Fisheries Development Fund; and
(c) the disbursement and collection of Al RAFAD Fund (SANAD Fund) Loans.
Under the Royal Decree establishing the Bank, the Government of the Sultanate of Oman guarantees
its borrowings of up to four times the capital and general reserves of the Bank.
Royal Decree No. 18/2006 was issued in the year 2006 by which new avenues were opened for the
Bank in terms of financial lending limits, allowing the bank to sanction soft loans up to One million Rials
Omani for a single project at a stipulated interest rate of 3% per year. The maximum limit of soft loans
can be Three million Rials Omani to Joint Stock Companies that have offered 40% of their shares for
public subscription.
The new Royal Decree also allows the bank to provide non-subsidised working capital loans to new
and existing projects.
Further, all the soft loans which were earlier handled by the Financial Support Committee of the Ministry
of Commerce and Industry have been delegated to Oman Development Bank SAOC.

2 Basis of preparation
2.1 Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the Bank at 31 December 2016 have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB), the disclosure requirements and the applicable regulations of the Commercial Companies
Law of 1974, as amended.
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2 Basis of preparation (continued)
2.1 Statement of compliance (continued)
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 4.
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for held-for-trading
investments, available-for-sale investments and staff housing loans which are measured at fair value.
The statement of financial position is presented in the order of liquidity as this presentation is more
appropriate to the Bank’s operations.
(a) Standards and amendments effective in 2016 and relevant for the Bank’s operations:
For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Bank has adopted all of the new and revised standards
and interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the International
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) of the IASB that are relevant to its operations and
effective for the period beginning on 1 January 2016. The adoption of above standards has not resulted
in changes to the Bank’s accounting policies and has not affected the amounts reported for the current
period.
(b) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Bank and the impact of these standards and interpretations
is not reasonably estimable as at 31 December 2016:
IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial
assets and financial liabilities. The complete version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014. It replaces the
guidance in IAS 39 that relates to the classification and measurement of financial instruments. IFRS
9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes three primary measurement
categories for financial assets: amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income and fair
value through profit or loss. There is now a new expected credit losses model that replaces the incurred
loss impairment model used in IAS 39.
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2 Basis of preparation (continued)
2.1 Statement of compliance (continued)
The mandatory application date for IFRS 9 as a whole is 1 January 2018, but it is possible to apply the revised
presentation for certain liabilities measured at fair value from an earlier date. The Bank is currently assessing
the impact IFRS 9 will have on the financial statements but due to the complexity of the classification and
measurement, impairment, and hedge accounting requirements and their inter-relationship, it is not possible
at this stage to quantify the potential impact as at the date of the approval of these financial statements.
IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customer’s, will replace IAS 18 which covers contracts for goods
and services and IAS 11 which covers construction contracts. This new standard is based on the principle
that revenue is recognised when control of a good or service transfers to a customer – so the notion of
control replaces the existing notion of risks and rewards. The standard permits a modified retrospective
approach for the adoption. Under this approach entities will recognise transitional adjustments in retained
earnings on the date of initial application, i.e. without restating the comparative period. They will only need to
apply the new rules to contracts that are not completed as of the date of initial application. The mandatory
application date for IFRS 15 is 1 January 2018. The Bank is currently assessing the impact of this standard
but it is not practicable to quantify the potential effect at the date of approval of these financial statements.
IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ was issued in January 2016. It will result in almost all leases being recognised on the
balance sheet, as the distinction between operating and finance leases is removed. Under the new standard,
an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are recognised. The only
exceptions are short-term and low-value leases. The standard will affect primarily the accounting for the
Bank’s operating leases. However, the Bank has not yet determined to what extent these commitments
will result in the recognition of an asset and a liability for future payments and how this will affect the Bank’s
profit and classification of cash flows. Some of the commitments may be covered by the exception for
short-term and low-value leases and some commitments may relate to arrangements that will not qualify
as leases under IFRS 16.
2.2 Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in Rials Omani (RO), which is the functional currency of the primary
economic environment in which the Bank operates.
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Rials Omani at the rates prevailing on the date of
the transactions. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to Rials Omani at
year end rates. Any gain or loss arising from changes in exchange rates subsequent to the date of the
transaction is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies
3.1 Financial assets
3.1.1 Classification, recognition and measurement
The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables, held to maturity and available-for-sale. The classification depends on the purpose
for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition.
(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, has two sub categories namely financial assets held
for trading and those designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception. Investments typically
bought with the intention to sell in the near future are classified as held for trading. For investments
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, the following criteria must be met:
•

the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise
from measuring the assets or liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them on a different basis; or

•

the assets and liabilities are part of a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both which are
managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk
management or investment strategy; or

•

the financial instrument contains an embedded derivative, unless the embedded derivative does not
significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear, with little or no analysis, that it would not be separately
recorded.
These investments are initially recorded at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the statement
of comprehensive income. Subsequent to initial recognition, these investments are remeasured
at fair value. Fair value adjustments and realised gain and loss are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.

(b) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale investments include equity and debt securities. Equity investments classified as
available-for-sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value
through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are intended to be held for an indefinite period
of time and may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in the market
conditions
The Bank has not designated any loans or receivables as available-for-sale.
Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value – which is the cash consideration to
purchase the loan including any transaction costs. After initial measurement, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair value.
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
3.1 Financial assets (continued)
3.1.1 Classification, recognition and measurement (continued)
Unrealised gains and losses are recognised directly in equity (other comprehensive income) in the change
in fair value of investments available-for-sale. When the investment is disposed of, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in equity is recognised in the profit or loss in other operating income.
Interest earned whilst holding available-for-sale financial investments is reported as interest income using
the effective interest rate. Dividends earned whilst holding available-for-sale financial investments are
recognised in the profit or loss as other operating income when the right of the payment has been
established. The losses arising from impairment of such investments are recognised in the profit or loss in
impairment for investments and removed from the change in fair value of investments available-for-sale.
(c) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market.
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value – which is the cash consideration to originate
or purchase the loan including any transaction costs – and measured subsequently at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method. Interest on loans is included in the statement of comprehensive
income and is reported as ‘interest income’. In the case of an impairment, the impairment loss is reported
as a deduction from the carrying value of the loan and recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income.
(d) Held to maturity
Held to maturity financial assets are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturity that the Bank has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity and which are not
designated at fair value through profit or loss or available-for-sale.
These are initially recognised at fair value including direct and incremental transaction costs and
measured subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.
Interest on held to maturity investments is included in the statement of comprehensive income and
reported as ‘interest income’. In the case of impairment, the impairment loss is been reported as a
deduction from the carrying value of the investment and recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income as ‘impairment for investments’. Held to maturity investments are government development
bonds.
3.1.2 Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and the
Bank intends to either settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted by the accounting standards

42

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

or for gains and losses arising from a Bank of similar transactions.

3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
3.1 Financial assets (continued)
3.1.3 Impairment of financial assets
(a) Assets carried at amortised cost
The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or
a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and
an impairment loss is incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a loss event) and that loss event
(or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial
assets that can be reliably estimated. Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets is
impaired includes observable data that comes to the attention of the group about the following loss
events as well as considering the guidelines issued by the Central Bank of Oman:
• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;
• a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
• the Bank granting to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;
• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
• the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or
• observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows
from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease
cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the group, including adverse changes
in the payment status of borrowers in the group, or national or local economic conditions that
correlate with defaults on the assets in the group.
The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets
that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets
with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues
to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-to-maturity
investments carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance
account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. If a
loan or held-to-maturity investment has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any
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impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract.

3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
3.1 Financial assets (continued)
3.1.3 Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(a) Assets carried at amortised cost (continued)
The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset
reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral,
whether or not foreclosure is probable.
Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are
estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the group and historical loss
experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group.
The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the
Bank to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for loan impairment. Such
loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss
has been determined.
If in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income.
(b) Assets classified as available-for-sale
The Bank assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. For debt securities, the Bank uses the criteria referred to
at (a) above. In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is also evidence that the assets are impaired. If
any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss - is removed from equity and recognised in the
profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments recognised in the profit or loss are not reversed
through separate profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified
as available-for-sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the profit
or loss.
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
3.1 Financial assets (continued)
3.1.4

Derecognition

(i) Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is derecognised when:
• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
• The Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass–through’
arrangement; and either:
-

The Bank has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or

-

The Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass–through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the
Bank’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Bank also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights
and obligations that the Bank has retained. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the
maximum amount of consideration that the Bank could be required to repay.
(ii) Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or
expires. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability.
The difference between the carrying value of the original financial liability and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.
3.1.5 Amortised cost measurement
The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability is
measured at initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation
using the effective interest rate method of any difference between the initial amount recognised and the
maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
3.1 Financial assets (continued)
3.1.6

Fair value measurement

A number of the Bank’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for
both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes based on a number of accounting policies and methods. Where applicable,
information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to
that asset or liability.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:
• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Bank.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
The Bank uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient
data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the use of unobservable inputs.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
• Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
• Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.
• Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.
For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Bank
determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
3.1 Financial assets (continued)
3.1.6

Fair value measurement (continued)

At each reporting date, the Bank analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities which
are required to be re-measured or re-assessed as per the Bank’s accounting policies. For this analysis,
the Bank verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the
valuation computation to contracts and other relevant documents.
The Bank also compares the changes in the fair value of each asset and liability with relevant external
sources to determine whether the change is reasonable.
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Bank has determined classes of assets and liabilities on
the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value
hierarchy as explained above.
3.1.7

Investment in equity and debt securities

The fair value of available-for-sale investments is based on quoted market prices at the financial position
date. For unquoted investments, the fair value approximates their carrying value.
The fair value of short term assets and liabilities are estimated to be equal to their carrying amounts.
The fair values of loans and advances approximates to the book value adjusted for provision against
impaired loans.
The fair value of staff housing loans has been determined by using discounted cash flow technique
using market rates currently offered for such facilities.
3.2 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of preparing the statement of cash flows, cash equivalents comprises of highly liquid
assets which are readily convertible into known amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of change in value. Cash and cash equivalents comprise all balances with Central Bank of Oman
and deposits with banks and other financial institutions, except for balances held by investment funds
managers and short term deposits, with a maturity of three months or less from the date of placement.
3.3 Balances due from other banks
These are stated at cost, less any amounts written off and provisions for impairment. Due from banks
include current accounts, call accounts and fixed deposits with the banks.
3.4 Staff housing loans
Staff housing loans are recoverable over periods of up to twenty years. A significant portion of the loans
is interest free while the others are charged at interest rates below the prevalent market rates for such
borrowings. The fair value of staff housing loans has been determined by using discounted cash flow
technique using market rates currently offered for such facilities.
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
3.5 Property and equipment
Property and equipment held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes, are initially recognised at their cost being their purchase price plus any other costs directly
attributable to bringing the assets to the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.
After initial recognition, the property and equipment are carried, in the statement of financial position, at
their cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment. The depreciation charge
for each period is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Depreciation is calculated
on a straight line basis, which reflects the pattern in which the asset’s future economic benefits are
expected to be consumed by the Bank over the estimated useful life of the assets as follows:
Years
Buildings

25

Vehicles

5

Furniture and fixtures and office equipment

4-5

Land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefinite life.
The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year-end, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes
in the circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication of
impairment exists, impairments losses are recorded in the statement of comprehensive income.
On the subsequent derecognition (sale or retirement) of the property and equipment, the resultant gain
or loss, being the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount, is
included in the statement of comprehensive income.
Repairs and renewals are charged to the statement of comprehensive income when the expense is
incurred. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits
embodied in the item of property and equipment. All other expenditure is recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income as an expense as incurred.
3.6 Prepayments and other receivables
Prepayments and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less provision for impairment.
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
3.7 Deposits
Deposits from customers are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently
measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
3.8 Payables and accruals
Payables and accruals are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method.
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid for goods and services received, whether or not billed
to the Group.
3.9 Provisions
Provisions are present obligations (legal or constructive) resulted from past events, the settlement of
the obligations is probable and the amount of those obligations can be estimated reliably. The amount
recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation
at the statement of financial position date, that is, the amount that the Bank would rationally pay to
settle the obligation at the statement of financial position date or to transfer it to a third party.
Provisions reviewed and adjusted at each statement of financial position date. If outflows, to settle the
provisions, are no longer probable, reverse of the provision is recorded as income. Provisions are only
used for the purpose for which they were originally recognised.
3.10 Employees’ terminal benefit
End of service benefits are accrued in accordance with the terms of employment of the Bank’s
employees at the reporting date, having regard to the requirements of the Oman Labour Law 2003 and
its amendments. Employee entitlements to annual leave and leave passage are recognised when they
accrue to employees and an accrual is made for the estimated liability arising as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the reporting date. These accruals are included in current liabilities, while
that relating to end of service benefits is disclosed as a non-current liability.
Contributions to Omani Government Social Security Scheme under Royal Decree No. 72/91 for Omani
employees in accordance with the Omani Social Insurance Law 1991 are recognised as an expense in
the statement of comprehensive income as incurred.
In accordance with the provisions of IAS 19, Employee benefits, management carries an exercise to
assess the present value of the Bank’s obligations as of reporting date, using the actuarial techniques,
in respect of employees’ end of service benefits payable under the Oman aforesaid Labour Law. Under
this method, an assessment is made of an employee’s expected service life with the Bank and the
expected basic salary at the date of leaving the service.
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
3.11 Equity instruments
Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
3.12 Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on accrual
basis, taking account of the principal outstanding and the rate applicable. If the recovery of the interest
income is doubtful, its recognition in the statement of comprehensive income is deferred until it is
received.
3.13 Commission and fees
Commission and fees are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income at the time of effecting
the transaction to which they relate.
3.14 Dividend
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive income is established.
3.15 Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are possible obligations depending on whether some uncertain future events occur,
or they are present obligations but payments are not probable or the amounts cannot be measured
reliably. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements.
3.16 Fiduciary assets
Assets held by the Bank in its own name, but on the account of third parties, are not reported in the
statement of financial position. Commissions received from fiduciary activities are shown in fee and
commission income.
3.17 Directors’ remuneration
Directors’ remuneration is calculated in accordance with the Commercial Companies Law of 1974, as
amended, of the Sultanate of Oman.
3.18 Operating leases
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are
classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the statement
of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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4 Use of estimates
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amount of financial assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the resultant provisions and changes in fair value for the year. Such estimates are necessarily
based on assumptions about factors involving varying, and possibly significant, degrees of judgment
and uncertainty and actual results may differ from management’s estimates resulting in future changes
in estimated assets and liabilities.
Significant areas where the management has used estimates, assumption or exercised judgements are
as follows:
(a) Impairment losses on loans and advances
The Bank reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment on a quarterly basis. In determining whether
an impairment loss should be recorded in the statement of comprehensive income, the Bank makes
judgments as to whether there is any observable data indicating an impairment followed by measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be
identified within that portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been
an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers and or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults on assets in the Bank.
Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics
and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash
flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future
cash flows are reviewed periodically to reduce any difference between loss estimates and actual
loss experience. For individually significant loans and advances which are impaired, the necessary
impairment loss is considered based on the future cash flow estimates.
Individually significant loans and advances which are not impaired and all individually insignificant loans
and advances are then assessed collectively considering historical experience and observable data on
a portfolio basis, in groups of assets with similar risk characteristics to determine whether collective
impairment loss to be made. In determining collective impairment loss, the Bank takes into account
several factors including credit quality, concentration risk, levels of past due, sector performance, and
available collateral and macro-economic conditions.
(b) Impairment of available-for-sale equity instruments
The Bank determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost. This determination of what is significant
or prolonged requires judgment. In making this judgment, management evaluates among other factors,
the normal volatility in share price. In addition, impairment may be appropriate when there is evidence
of deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry and sector performance, changes in
technology and operational and financing cash flows.
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5 Balances due from other banks

Current accounts
Short term deposits

2016

2015

RO

RO

16,519,464

24,803,898

3,000,000

-

19,519,464

24,803,898

Current accounts include an amount of RO 338,097 held by investment managers as of 31 December
2016 (2015 - RO 1,333,195).
Short term deposits have been placed for a period of one year and carries interest rate of 3.9% (2015 - nil).
All current accounts are with commercial banks located in the Sultanate of Oman.

6 Loans and advances to customers
2016

2015

RO

RO

119,015,625

113,291,557

Loan against trust receipts and working capital loans

4,412,748

3,940,635

Interest receivable

3,359,945

3,414,849

126,788,318

120,647,041

Allowances for impaired debts [note 6(a)]

(9,922,658)

(7,397,608)

Reserved interest [note 6(b)]

(3,050,854)

(3,100,943)

113,814,806

110,148,490

Loans and advances to customers

Gross loans and advances

Loans and advances were granted to projects within the Sultanate of Oman. The concentration of gross
loans and advances by sector is as follows:
2016

2015

RO

RO

Manufacturing

44,022,175

40,865,475

Agriculture and fisheries

39,946,815

41,294,987

Services

37,014,701

32,814,038

Economic sector

Mining and quarrying
Others
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754,265

1,012,889

5,050,362

4,659,652

126,788,318

120,647,041
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6 Loans and advances to customers (continued)
(a) Allowances for impairment losses for loans and advances to customers is as follows:

Opening balance

2016

2015

RO

RO

7,397,608

8,071,064

Staff housing loan provisions brought forward
Charge for the year
Released during the year
Written off during the year

-

28,138

4,810,501

2,069,334

(2,077,576)

(1,521,211)

(207,875)

(1,249,717)

9,922,658

7,397,608

Loans and advances within 1 to 89 days category (“Standard” and “Special mentioned”) are not impaired.
The bank provides collective provision for the non-impaired loans. The collective provision included in
the allowance for the impaired loans and advances as of December 31, 2016 is RO 1,644,434 (2015 RO 1,629,261).
(b) Reserved interest for loans and advances to customers is as follows:

Opening balance
Charge for the year
Released during the year
Written off during the year

2016

2015

RO

RO

3,100,943

5,229,769

562,473

559,122

(184,606)

(407,660)

(427,956)

(2,280,288)

3,050,854

3,100,943

(c) As at 31 December 2016, the total outstanding amount of non-performing loans and advances
on which interest has been reserved and specific provision have been created amounted to
RO 17,356,661 (2015: RO 13,696,253). Reserve interest forms part of specific provision for the
purpose of IFRS.
(d) A further analysis of the above is set out below:

Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired
Impaired
Gross loans and advances
Less: impairment allowance

2016
RO
100,179,995
9,251,662
17,356,661
126,788,318
(12,973,512)
113,814,806

2015
RO
100,717,059
6,233,729
13,696,253
120,647,041
(10,498,551)
110,148,490
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6 Loans and advances to customers (continued)
(e) Gross impaired loans
Large
projects

Small and
medium
projects

Total

RO

RO

RO

Substandard

1,924,933

2,119,270

4,044,203

Doubtful

1,483,856

1,600,977

3,084,833

Loss

7,047,089

3,180,536

10,227,625

10,455,878

6,900,783

17,356,661

Large
projects

Small and
medium
projects

Total

RO

RO

RO

1,292,541

1,802,795

3,095,336

817,005

1,612,198

2,429,203

5,087,065

3,084,649

8,171,714

7,196,611

6,499,642

13,696,253

31 December 2016

31 December 2015
Substandard
Doubtful
Loss

(f) Fair value of qualified collaterals - large projects RO 84,763,814 against loan outstanding of
RO 61,771,733 (2015: RO 71,424,728 against loan outstanding of RO 57,911,967).
(g) As of reporting date, the Bank has following loans written off from its portfolio. Further, the Bank
continues to follow up with its customer in order to collect outstanding balances

Loans technical write-off
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2016

2015

RO

RO

5,811,996

5,689,408
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7 Investments
2016

2015

RO

RO

Available-for-sale

1,796,943

1,566,719

Held for trading (Level - 1)

6,019,815

4,802,552

17,402,864

21,594,637

25,219,622

27,963,908

2016

2015

RO

RO

1,566,719

1,421,290

Held-to-maturity

Available-for-sale investments
Movement of available-for-sale investment is given below:

At beginning of the year
Change in fair value of available-for-sale investments
At end of the year

230,224

145,429

1,796,943

1,566,719

Quoted investments (Level - 1)
The analysis of market value based on the most recent market price and cost of quoted available-for-sale
investments by economic sector is as follows:
Market value

Cost

2016

2015

2016

2015

RO

RO

RO

RO

1,073,266

845,895

351,634

351,634

Industrial

676,894

671,457

382,400

382,400

Services

45,783

48,367

13,082

13,082

1,795,943

1,565,719

747,116

747,116

Banking and investment

Unquoted investments
Included in available-for-sale investments is RO 1,000 (2015 - RO 1,000) being the value of unquoted
Omani shares.
Details of the Bank’s available-for-sale investments for which the Bank’s holding exceeds 10% of the market
value of the Bank’s available-for-sale investment portfolio, are as follows:
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7 Investments
Investment
portfolio

Number
of shares

%

Market value

Cost

2016

2015

2016

2015

RO

RO

RO

RO

Quoted equity and fund
investments
Oman National Investment
Corporation Holding SAOG

53.29

1,870,464

957,677

718,909

262,832

262,832

Oman Cement Company
SAOG

26.38

1,000,000

474,000

460,000

200,000

200,000

Majan Glass Company
SAOG

11.24

1,062,600

201,894

211,457

182,400

182,400

2016

2015

RO

RO

17,402,864

21,594,637

Held-to-maturity
Government development bonds

Government development bonds carries interest rates ranging from 2.75% to 5.5% (2015 - 2.75% to
5.5%).
The movement of held-to-maturity investments is given below:
2016

2015

RO

RO

At beginning of the year

21,594,637

21,783,668

Matured during the year

(4,000,000)

-

(191,773)

(189,031)

17,402,864

21,594,637

Premium amortised during the year
At end of the year

8 Staff housing loans
Staff housing loans are recoverable over periods of up to twenty years and are interest free till the employees’
end of service with the Bank and after that there is an interest charge ranging from 1% to 6%, depending
on the salary of the employee at the time of leaving. The fair value of staff housing loans is determined by
using discounted cash flow technique using market rates currently offered for such facilities.
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9 Receivable from Government
2016

2015

RO

RO

Ministry of Finance - subsidy receivable - refer (a) below

695,665

818,413

Ministry of Finance - accrued subsidy - refer (b) below

521,828

515,520

6,924,150

3,473,374

8,141,643

4,807,307

Ministry of Finance – accrued management fees - refer (c) below
Ministry of Finance - government soft loans - refer (d) below

(706,287)

(579,822)

7,435,356

4,227,485

(a) Subsidy receivable represents the amount billed to the MoF for the interest subsidy on the loans and
advances.
(b) Accrued subsidy represents the interest subsidy due on loans and advances but not billed to the MoF
as at the reporting date.
(c) Accrued management fee includes the fee charged at 5% from the MoF of RO 5,938,679 relating to
Al Rafad Fund (2015 - RO 2,908,695).
(d) Government soft loans represents the net balance of the funds received from MoF for various type of
schemes handled by the Bank on behalf of the MoF, as custodian.
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10 Property and equipment

Land Buildings Vehicles
RO

Furniture
and
Office
fixtures equipment

Capital
work-inprogress

Total

RO

RO

RO

RO

RO

RO

34,943 1,219,372

625,090

813,175

1,360,887

-

4,053,467

Cost
At 1 January 2016
Additions

-

-

51,300

46,227

115,746

26,789

240,062

Disposals/write-offs

-

-

(28,800)

(2,329)

(2,190)

-

(33,319)

34,943 1,219,372

647,590

857,073

1,474,443

26,789

4,260,210

At 31 December 2016
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2016

-

741,531

391,022

539,062

947,122

-

2,618,737

Charge for the year

-

48,908

88,610

94,214

179,974

-

411,706

Disposals/write-offs

-

-

(28,797)

(1,165)

(1,094)

-

(31,056)

At 31 December 2016

-

790,439

450,835

632,111

1,126,002

-

2,999,387

34,943

428,933

196,755

224,962

348,441

26,789

1,260,823

Land
RO

Buildings
RO

Furniture
Office Capital workVehicles and fixtures equipment in-progress
RO
RO
RO
RO

Total
RO

Net carrying value
At 31 December 2016

Cost
At 1 January 2015

34,943 1,219,372

565,565

855,883

1,155,475

-

3,831,238

Additions

-

-

97,050

17,381

166,664

-

281,095

Disposals

-

-

(37,525)

(15,705)

(5,636)

-

(58,866)

-

-

-

(44,384)

44,384

-

-

34,943 1,219,372

625,090

813,175

1,360,887

-

4,053,467

Transfers
At 31 December 2015
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2015

-

692,756

332,752

468,636

765,935

-

2,260,079

Charge for the year

-

48,775

90,740

107,979

167,011

-

414,505

Disposals

-

-

(34,224)

(16,003)

(5,620)

-

(55,847)

Adjustments

-

-

1,754

(21,550)

19,796

-

-

At 31 December 2015

-

741,531

391,022

539,062

947,122

-

2,618,737

34,943

477,841

234,068

274,113

413,765

-

1,434,730

Net book amount
At 31 December 2015

Land consists of five plots, out of which Buraimi and Salalah plots are jointly registered with the Government
of Oman.
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11 Prepayments and other receivables
2016

2015

RO

RO

Deferred employee benefit

642,880

-

Guarantee recoverable from Ministry of Finance

228,500

221,500

Customer relationship account receivables - net (note 11.1)

110,378

92,108

50,146

55,146

Prepaid expenses
Short term staff loans - net

27,407

24,817

374,034

293,640

1,433,345

687,211

2016

2015

RO

RO

Total account receivables

374,267

324,037

Provision at 1 January

231,929

236,490

Other receivables

11.1

Customer relationship account receivables

Impairment charge/(reversal)

31,960

(4,561)

Balance at 31 December

263,889

231,929

Customer relationship account receivables - net

110,378

92,108

2016

2015

RO

RO

588,930

622,341

12 Customer deposits (Izdihar)

Term deposits

The term deposits mature within one year and carries interest rates ranging from 0.10% - 1% per annum
(2015: 0.10 % - 1 %) per annum.

13 Payable to Government

Al Rafad Fund - balance under reconciliation

2016

2015

RO

RO

75,598

1,575,602
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14 Payables and accruals
2016

2015

RO

RO

2,405,693

2,749,564

561,114

527,281

1,043,782

3,009,596

Provision for bonus

2,515

489,173

Accrued expenses

215,525

99,074

Customers relationship accounts*
Provision for leave salary, gratuity and air ticket
Payable to Al Rafad Fund

Provision for directors’ remuneration
Other payables

-

40,000

500,330

708,070

4,728,959

7,622,758

* Customer relationship accounts mainly include the balances received in advance from the customers of
the Bank.

15 Trust activities
The Bank acts as a trustee for the following funds and balances under trust are:
2016

2015

RO

RO

755,603

7,104,112

7,113,974

2,573,624

2016

2015

RO

RO

Authorized share capital (100 million (2015 -100 million) ordinary
shares of RO 1 each)

100,000,000

100,000,000

Issued and fully paid (100 million (2015 - 100 million) ordinary
shares of RO 1 each)

100,000,000

100,000,000

Agriculture and Fisheries Development Fund
AL Rafad Fund (Sanad Fund)

16 Share capital

17 Legal reserve
The Legal Reserve, which is not available for distribution, is being accumulated in accordance with Article
106 of the Commercial Companies Law of 1974. The annual appropriation shall be 10% of the profit of the
Bank until such time when the Legal Reserve amounts to at least one-third of the capital.

18 Special reserve
In accordance with the Article of Association of the Bank, an amount could be transferred to a special
reserve at the discretion of board of directors.
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19 Interest income

Loans and advances to customers
Cash and term deposits
Other

2016

2015

RO

RO

7,116,153

7,444,818

222,392

204,176

6,373

10,001

7,344,918

7,658,995

Interest income from loans and advances includes around RO 4.4 million (2015: RO 4.4 million), which
represents government subsidy provided by Ministry of Finance for customers for their projects against
which loans have been obtained by the customers from the Bank. The subsidy is only applicable to
customers who fulfil their obligations in repaying their instalments. In an event of default by the customer
the interest is fully charged to the customer and no claim is made for the Ministry of Finance.

20 Fees, commission and other income
2016

2015

RO

RO

3,450,776

3,473,373

Commitment, legal, loan study and other fees and commissions

465,483

473,470

Other income

354,666

258,925

4,270,925

4,205,768

2016
RO

2015
RO

65,834

74,033

513,391

518,469

303,743
(312,780)
570,188

331,335
(188,117)
735,720

312,920
883,108
(6,265)
876,843

(340,567)
395,153
(6,326)
388,827

Management fee - Al Rafad Fund

21 Investment income

Realised income:
Income from available-for-sale investments
Dividend income
Income from held-to-maturity investments
Interest income from Government Development Bonds
Income/(loss) from held for trading investments
Dividend income
Loss on sale of investments
Total realised income
Unrealised income:
Change in fair value of investment held for trading
Portfolio manager charges
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22 General and administrative expenses
2016

2015

RO

RO

4,911,979

5,412,755

Depreciation (note 10)

411,706

414,505

Office expenses

228,860

221,371

Rent

195,871

207,582

Training expenses

194,549

209,047

Communication costs

166,017

124,949

Professional fees

119,535

38,584

Travelling and vehicle expenses

99,820

100,458

Direct write-off of loans and advances

95,642

179,796

Board meeting expenses and sitting fees

30,566

28,200

Fees and contribution to local institutes

16,917

38,611

-

40,000

388,839

480,959

6,860,301

7,496,817

2016

2015

RO

RO

3,950,825

4,014,574

Bonus

442,611

924,329

Social security costs

365,717

355,838

Other benefits

152,826

118,014

4,911,979

5,412,755

Employees’ costs (note 23)

Proposed directors’ remuneration
Miscellaneous expenses

23 Employees costs

Salaries and allowances

24 Taxation
The Bank is exempted from tax, in accordance with the Royal Decree 18/2006.
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25 Related party transactions
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Bank, directly or indirectly, including any Director (whether executive or
otherwise).
a) Directors remuneration:

Board meeting expenses and sitting fees
Proposed director’s remuneration

2016

2015

RO

RO

30,566

28,200

-

40,000

2016

2015

RO

RO

381,492

412,144

b) Key management compensation:

Salary and benefits to key management personnel

Receivables from and payables to related parties were disclosed in notes 9 and 13 respectively.

26 Commitments and contingencies

Loans and advances approved but not draw down
Commitments for acquisition of property and equipment
Letter of guarantees*

2016

2015

RO

RO

20,296,316

23,350,106

25,585

-

2,547,303

1,454,091

*The Bank guarantees the performance of customers by issuing guarantees to third parties. The risk
involved is essentially the same as the credit risk involved in extending loan to customers and, therefore
these transactions are subjected to the same credit risk. As these guarantees generally are not invoked, the
amounts do not necessary reflect future cash requirements.
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27 Net assets value per share
Net assets value per share is calculated by dividing the net assets at the year-end by the number of shares
outstanding as follows:
2016

2015

RO

RO

Net assets (RO)

164,847,868

161,758,313

Number of shares outstanding at 31 December (Nos.)

100,000,000

100,000,000

1.648

1.618

Net assets value per share (RO)

28 Assets and liabilities maturity profile
Assets
RO

Liability
RO

Mismatch
RO

Less than 6 months

49,704,286

5,061,693

44,642,593

6 -12 months

17,769,944

155,165

17,614,779

1- 3 years

46,190,255

-

46,190,255

3 - 5 years

35,448,523

-

35,448,523

More than 5 years

21,128,347

165,024,497

(143,896,150)

170,241,355

170,241,355

-

Assets
RO

Liability
RO

Mismatch
RO

Less than 6 months

50,760,952

9,471,186

41,289,766

6 -12 months

17,466,793

162,812

17,303,981

1- 3 years

49,930,886

-

49,930,886

3 - 5 years

34,933,079

-

34,933,079

More than 5 years

18,487,304

161,945,016

(143,457,712)

171,579,014

171,579,014

-

31 December 2016
Maturities

31 December 2015
Maturities
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29 Assets and liabilities re-pricing profile
Interest
rate
%

Six months
Less than
to twelve
six months
months
RO
RO

Over
twelve Non-interest
months
sensitive
RO
RO

Total
RO

2016
Assets
Cash and balances with
Central Bank of Oman

1.5

Balances due from other
banks
Loans and advances to
customers
Investments

-

-

50,000

136,141

186,141

1 - 3.9

19,392,945

-

-

338,097

19,731,042

6

15,668,774

12,530,663

85,615,369

-

4,077,356

15,263,212

2.75 - 5.5

5,879,054

25,219,622

63,456

66,137

661,375

369,252

1,160,220

Received from government

-

-

-

7,435,356

7,435,356

Property and equipment

-

-

-

1,260,823

1,260,823

Prepayment and other
receivables

-

-

-

1,433,345

1,433,345

Staff housing loans

1-6

- 113,814,806

35,125,175

Total assets

16,674,156 101,589,956

16,852,068 170,241,355

Liabilities
369,000

219,930

-

-

588,930

Payable to Government

-

-

-

75,598

75,598

Payables and accruals

-

-

-

4,728,959

4,728,959

369,000

219,930

-

4,804,557

5,393,487

-

-

-

164,847,868 164,847,868

369,000

219,930

-

169,652,425 170,241,355

Customer deposits

Total liabilities
Total shareholders’ funds
Total liabilities and
shareholders’ funds

0.10 - 1
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29 Assets and liabilities re-pricing profile (continued)
Interest
rate
%

Less than
six months
RO

Six months
to twelve
months
RO

Over twelve
months
RO

Non-interest
sensitive
RO

Total
RO

-

-

50,000

90,054

140,054

2015
Assets
Cash and balances with
Central Bank of Oman

1.5

Balances due from other
banks

1

24,075,586

-

-

1,333,196

25,408,782

Loans and advances to
customers

6

15,577,774

12,493,774

82,076,942

-

110,148,490

-

4,189,105

17,405,532

6,369,271

27,963,908

Investments
Staff housing loans

2.75 to 5.5

59,530

61,373

712,577

734,874

1,568,354

Received from government

6

-

-

-

4,227,485

4,227,485

Property and equipment

-

-

-

1,434,730

1,434,730

Prepayment and other
receivables

-

-

-

687,211

687,211

16,744,252 100,245,051

14,876,821

171,579,014

Total assets

39,712,890

Liabilities
Customer deposits
Payable to Government
Payables and accruals
Total liabilities
Total shareholders’ funds
Total liabilities and
shareholders’ funds
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0.10 to 1

390,588

231,753

-

-

622,341

-

-

-

1,575,602

1,575,602

-

-

-

7,622,758

7,622,758

390,588

231,753

-

9,198,360

9,820,701

-

-

- 161,758,313

161,758,313

390,588

231,753

- 170,956,673

171,579,014
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30 Basic and diluted earnings per share

Profit for the year (RO)
Weighted average number of shares on issue
Basic and diluted earnings per share (RO)

2016

2015

RO

RO

2,859,331

4,200,807

100,000,000

100,000,000

0.029

0.042

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year by the weighted average
number of shares outstanding during the year.

31 Capital adequacy
2016

2015

RO’000

RO’000

165,915

162,937

Credit risk

143,619

137,211

Market risk

12,041

9,605

Operational risk

26,197

25,356

Total risk weighted assets

181,857

172,172

Capital adequacy ratio

91.23%

94.64%

Capital base (Tier 1 & 2)
Risk weighted assets

32 Employees terminal benefits
The Bank contributes to the Government of Oman Social Insurance Scheme, which is a defined contribution
retirement plan. During the year ended December 31, 2016 the Bank’s contribution amounted to RO
365,717 (2015 - RO 355,838).
The provision for employee’s terminal benefits for non-Omani employees is made in accordance with
the requirements of Omani Labour Law. This is an un-funded defined benefits retirement plan and the
movements during the year is as follows:
2016

2015

RO

RO

142,069

116,371

Charge for the year

18,479

25,698

Paid during the year

(66,977)

-

93,571

142,069

At January

At December
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33 Fair value information
Off-statement of financial position financial instruments
No fair value adjustment is made with respect to credit-related off-statement of financial position financial
instruments, which include commitments to extend credit and guarantees, as the related future income
streams materially reflect contractual fees and commissions actually charged at the statement of financial
position date for agreements of similar credit standing and maturity.

Accounting classifications as at:
Availablefor-sale

Held-fortrading

Financial assets
and liabilities at
amortised cost

RO

RO

RO

RO

Cash and balances with Central Bank
of Oman

-

-

397,719

397,719

Balances due from other banks

-

-

19,519,464

19,519,464

Loans and advances to customers

-

-

113,814,806

113,814,806

1,796,943

6,019,815

17,402,864

25,219,622

Staff housing loans

-

-

1,803,100

1,803,100

Receivable from Government

-

-

7,435,356

7,435,356

Other receivables

-

-

740,319

740,319

1,796,943

6,019,815

161,113,628

168,930,386

31 December 2016
Financial assets

Investments

Total financial assets
Total non-financial assets

Total

1,310,969

Total assets

170,241,355

Financial liabilities
Customer deposits (Izdihar)

-

588,930

588,930

Payable to Government

-

-

742,336

742,336

Payables

-

-

3,283,067

3,283,067

Total financial liabilities

-

-

4,614,333

4,614,333

Total non-financial liabilities
Total liabilities
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33 Fair value information (continued)
Available
for sale

Held-fortrading

Financial assets
and liabilities at
amortised cost

RO

RO

RO

RO

Cash and balances with Central Bank
of Oman

-

-

744,938

744,938

Balances due from other banks

-

-

24,803,898

24,803,898

Loans and advances to customers

-

-

110,148,490

110,148,490

1,566,719

4,802,552

21,594,637

27,963,908

Staff housing loans

-

-

1,568,354

1,568,354

Receivable from Government

-

-

4,227,485

4,227,485

Other receivables

-

-

632,065

632,065

1,566,719

4,802,552

163,719,867

170,089,138

31 December 2015
Financial assets

Investments

Total financial assets
Total non-financial assets

Total

1,489,876

Total assets

171,579,014

Financial liabilities
Customer deposits (Izdihar)

-

-

622,341

622,341

Payable to Government

-

-

1,575,602

1,575,602

Payables

-

-

6,467,230

6,467,230

Total financial liabilities

-

-

8,665,173

8,665,173

Total non-financial liabilities

1,155,528

Total liabilities

9,820,701
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33 Fair value information (continued)
The table below analyses financial instruments and its fair values:
2015

2016
Carrying
amount

Fair value

Carrying
Amount

Fair value

RO

RO

RO

RO

Assets
Cash and balances with Central
Bank of Oman

397,719

397,719

744,938

744,938

Balances due from other banks

19,519,464

19,519,464

24,803,898

24,803,898

113,814,806

113,814,806

110,148,490

110,148,490

25,219,622

24,985,591

27,963,908

27,963,908

Staff housing loans

1,160,220

1,160,220

1,568,354

1,189,311

Receivable from Government

7,435,356

7,435,356

4,227,485

4,227,485

Prepayments and other
receivables

1,433,345

1,433,345

687,211

687,211

Customer deposits

588,930

588,930

622,341

622,341

Payable to Government

742,336

742,336

1,575,602

1,575,602

4,327,121

4,327,121

7,622,758

7,622,758

Loans and advances to
customers
Investments

Liabilities

Payables and accruals

Interest rates used for determining fair value
The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows, where applicable, are based on the government
yield curve at the reporting date plus an adequate credit spread, and were as follows:

Staff loans
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2016

2015

RO

RO

5%

6%
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34 Risk management
Oman Development Bank is owned by the Government of the Sultanate of Oman. It provides assistance
to development projects in the Sultanate of Oman by granting loans, administering grants and subsidies,
participating in share capital and providing technical assistance to companies. In accordance with its
objectives, interest on loans and advances is charged to customers at rates which are subsidised by the
Government.
All of the Bank’s activities involve, to varying degrees, the analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management
of risks or combinations of risks. The most important categories of risk that the Bank is exposed to are
capital risk, credit risk, market risk, operational risks in various forms, liquidity risk, reputational risk, legal
risk and sustainability (environmental and social) risks. Market risk includes foreign exchange, interest rate
and equity price risks. The management of these various risk categories is discussed below.
The risk profiles of the Bank change constantly under the influence of a wide range of factors. The risk
management framework established by the Bank fosters the continuous monitoring of the risk environment
and an integrated evaluation of risks and their interdependencies.
(a) Capital risk
The bank manages its capital to ensure that the bank will be able to continue as going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The bank’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from 2015.
The capital of the bank consists of equity attributable to shareholders of the bank comprising issued capital,
reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in the statement of changes in equity.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the borrower of a loan fails to adhere to the terms of borrowing, causing the Bank
to suffer a loss in terms of cash flow or market value.
The Bank deals with creditworthy parties to lessen its risk on each individual credit exposure. The credit
worthiness of a party and the business viability of a project are assessed by the appropriate committee
before an exposure is undertaken. The Managers evaluate and monitor their respective portfolios and are
held responsible for follow up of credit/ follow up and recovery of defaulting clients.
Concentration of loans by economic sectors as shown in note 6 to the financial statements, shows the
diversification of the loans, thereby reducing the possibilities of losses in the event of a reduction in activity
in one sector.
The below table details the bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account the value of
any collateral obtained, which represents the carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial
statements, net of impairment losses.
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34 Risk management (continued)
2016

2015

RO

RO

113,814,806

110,148,490

Staff housing loans

1,160,220

1,568,354

Receivable from Government

7,435,356

4,227,485

Prepayments and other receivables

1,433,345

687,211

Loans and advances to customers

Off financial position exposures - guarantees

2,547,303

1,454,091

126,391,030

118,085,631

(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk an enterprise will face in obtaining funds to meet its obligations at any given time.
The Bank’s liquidity management policies are designed to ensure that even under adverse conditions the
Bank would be in a position to meet its obligations
The Board of Directors and the management monitor the Bank’s liquidity requirements.
(d) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the sensitivity of the Bank’s financial condition to movements in interest rates. Mismatches
or gaps in the amount of assets, liabilities and offbalance sheet instruments can generate interest rate risk,
the impact of which is a function of the interest rate changes and the maturity profile of the assets and
liabilities. Positions are monitored regularly to manage the interest rate risk. The impact of an a minor
increase interest would not result in material impact as most of the Bank’s assets and liabilities carry fixed
interest rate.
(e) Currency risk
The foreign currency risk is minimal as all the transactions are incurred in Rials Omani or United States
Dollar which is pegged to Rials Omani.
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34 Risk management (continued)
(f) Price risk
The Bank is exposed to equity price risks arising from equity investments. Equity investments are held for
strategic rather than trading purposes. The Bank does not actively trade these investments.
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the
reporting date. If equity prices had been 5% higher / lower:
•

The profit for the year would have decreased / increased by RO 300,991 (2015 - RO 240,128) as a
result of change in fair value of held for trading investments.

•

Change in fair value reserves would decreased / increased by RO 89,797 (2015 - RO 78,286) as a
result of the changes in fair value of available-for-sale investments.

(g) Operational risk
The Bank defines operational risk as the risk to achieving your strategy or objectives as a result of inadequate
or failed internal processes, people and systems, or from external events. Losses arising through fraud,
unauthorised activities, errors, omission, inefficiency, systems failure or from external events all fall within
the operational risk definition.
A formal governance structure provides oversight over the management of operational risk. The risk
management meeting convenes monthly to discuss operational risk issues and the effectiveness of internal
controls.

35 Proposed dividend
No cash dividend has been proposed by the Board of Directors for 2016 (2015 - nil).

36 Corresponding figures
Certain corresponding figures for 2015 have been reclassified in order to conform to the presentation
adopted in the current period. Such reclassifications have not resulted in change in prior period reported
profit or equity.

37 Approval of financial statements
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue on 30 January 2017.
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1. Disclosure Policy
Oman Development Bank SAOC has in place a “Disclosure Policy” approved by the Board of Directors.
The policy is reviewable periodically. The policy framework covers the extent of disclosures as well as the
internal control processes required to ensure that such disclosures are consistent and reliable.
The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS) first issued measures to strengthen the Basel II
accord in 2009 (popularly known as Basel 2.5) and then issued a regulatory framework for increasing
the resilience of banks and the banking system in December 2010, which was revised in June 2011.This
framework is called Basel III.
The Basel Committee has since issued its rules text on “composition of capital disclosure requirements‟.
This document is available at http://www.bis.org./publ/bcbs221.htm. Accordingly, Pillar 3 disclosure
requirements under Basel III are introduced for banks by the Central Bank of Oman. Banks are required to
comply with the disclosure requirements from the date of publication of their first set of financial statements
relating to a balance sheet date on or after June 30, 2013. In Oman, the roadmap for implementation of
Basel III has indicated that there would be a gradual phase-in of the standards beginning from 2013 until
2019.The higher capital requirements will be implemented gradually from 2013 through 2015. Further to
this, vide CBO letter dt. October 28, 2014, it has been decided to modify the Capital Conservation Buffer
and accordingly only 0.625% is to be provided as of 01-01-2016. As per Basel III, Concept Paper 3 issued
by CBO, countercyclical buffer requirement is 0.625% for 2016.
This document takes into account the requirements of Pillar 3 disclosure under Basel III.

2. Scope of Application (Subsidiaries /Groups)
a) Qualitative Disclosures
ODB is not a part of any group either as a member or as the top corporate entity in the group. The bank
does not hold investments in any of the other banks.
b) Quantitative Disclosures
The financial statements do not include consolidation of accounts of any other entities.
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Name of the entity (ies)

N.A.

Country of Incorporation

N.A.

Shareholding (%)

N.A.

Other Major Shareholders (Name and % shareholding

N.A

Main activity of the entity

N.A

Total assets

N.A.

Capital Adequacy Ratio(%) if applicable

N.A.

Short fall in capital, if any, vis-à-vis the regulatory requirements.

N.A
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3. Range of Disclosures
a) Capital Structure
i) Qualitative Disclosures
The Bank’s equity comprises of issued and fully paid up share capital, Legal/Statutory Reserves (created
by transferring 10% of yearly net profits-this reserve is not available for distribution), Special/Voluntary
Reserves(created by transferring portion of yearly net profit, as voluntary provision, to mitigate unexpected
increase of provision due to high growth of loan provision during some years), Investment Revaluation
Reserves and Retained Earnings. The capital is fully contributed by the Ministry of Finance of Sultanate of
Oman.
The Bank does not have any innovative, complex or hybrid capital instruments.
Extract from Disclosure template for main features of regulatory capital instruments
1

Issuer

Oman Development Bank SAOC

2

Unique identifier (eg CUSIP, ISIN or Bloomberg identifier
for private placement) 3

NA

3

Governing law(s) of the instrument Regulatory treatment

Common Shares. Omani Companies
Law

4

Transitional Basel III rules

Common Equity Tier 1

5

Post-transitional Basel III rules

Common Equity Tier 1

6

Eligible at solo/group/group & solo

Solo

7

Instrument type (types to be specified by each
jurisdiction)

Common Shares. Sultanate of Oman

8

Amount recognised in regulatory capital (Currency in mil, RO 100 million
as of most recent reporting date)

9

Par value of instrument

RO 1 per share

10

Accounting classification

Shareholder's Equity

11

Original date of issuance

2006

ii) Quantitative Disclosures
The table below has been extracted from ‘Basel III common disclosure template to be used during the
transition of regulatory adjustments (i.e. from 1 January 2013 to 1 January 2018)’ for the year ending
31-12-2016
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Sl. No. of
Disclosure
template
1

Common Equity Tier 1 capital: instruments and reserves
Directly issued qualifying common share capital

2
3
4
5

Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income (and other reserves)
Directly issued capital subject to phase out from CET1
Common share capital issued by subsidiaries and held by third parties
(amount allowed in group CET1)

6
28
29
36
43
44
45
51
57
58
59

Common Equity Tier 1 capital before regulatory adjustments
Total regulatory adjustments to Common equity Tier 1
Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET1)
Additional Tier 1 capital before regulatory adjustments
Total regulatory adjustments to Additional Tier 1 capital
Additional Tier 1 capital (AT1)
Tier 1 capital (T1 = CET1 + AT1)
Tier 2 capital before regulatory adjustments
Total regulatory adjustments to Tier 2 capital
Tier 2 capital (T2)
Total capital (TC = T1 + T2)

60
60a
60b
60c

Total risk weighted assets (60a+60b+60c)
Of which: Credit risk weighted assets
Of which: Market risk weighted assets
Of which: Operational risk weighted assets
Capital Ratios
Common Equity Tier 1 (as a percentage of risk weighted assets)
Tier 1 (as a percentage of risk weighted assets)
Total capital (as a percentage of risk weighted assets)
Institution specific buffer requirement (minimum CET1 requirement plus
capital conservation buffer plus countercyclical buffer requirements plus
G-SIB/D-SIB buffer requirement expressed as a percentage of risk weighted
assets)
of which: capital conservation buffer requirement
of which: bank specific countercyclical buffer requirement

61
62
63
64

65
66
67
68

76

Elements of Regulatory Capital

of which: D-SIB/G-SIB buffer requirement
Common Equity Tier 1 available to meet buffers (as a percentage of risk
weighted assets)

Amount
(RO ‘000)
100,000
51,391
12,408
0
0
163,799
0
163,799
0
0
0
163,799
2,116
0
2,116
165,916
184,173
142,343
15,634
26,197
88.9%
88.9%
90.1%

8.25%
0.625%
0.625%
0
80.7%
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Sl. No. of
Disclosure
template

Elements of Regulatory Capital
National minima (if different from Basel III)
National Common Equity Tier 1 minimum ratio (if different from Basel 3
minimum)
National Tier 1 minimum ratio (if different from Basel 3 minimum)
National total capital minimum ratio (if different from Basel 3 minimum)

69
70
71

Amount
(RO ‘000)

8.25%
10.25%
13.25%

b) Capital Adequacy
i) Qualitative Disclosures
Summary Discussion:
The capital adequacy of the bank is being calculated every quarter, considering various types of Risks
(Credit, Market and Operational) and as per the guidelines of the Central Bank of Oman. The bank has
considered that level of capital is sufficient not only to meet future business plans but also to cushion any
unexpected losses. The bank has adopted Standardized Approach for assessing capital adequacy for
Credit and Market Risks and Basic Indicator Approach for Operational Risks.
Credit Risk:
For Credit Risk, Bank has assigned following Risk Weights:
•

100% for all Corporate and Retail exposures without regard to external ratings and without availing Risk
Weight of 75% allowed for Retail exposures meeting pre-defined criteria respectively.

•

150% Risk Weight for Net Unsecured Portion of all NPLs (net of specific provisions and reserve interest).

•

50% Risk Weight for Cash and Deposits with local banks.

•

20% Risk Weight for short term placement with local banks

•

0% Risk Weight for CBO Government Development Bonds.

•

100% Risk weight for Fixed Assets and all Other Assets.

•

100% Risk Weight for Guarantees issued to banks for establishing LCs/ LPOs on behalf of Bank’s
customers.

•

0% Risk Weight to off-balance sheet items, such as, Agriculture and Fisheries Development Fund, Al
Raffd Fund and SANAD Fund as the Bank acts as a Trustee for these items.

•

100% Risk Weight for all other unquoted Commercial Investments

•

50% Risk Weight for undrawn loan commitments with respect of loans approved

•

100% Risk Weight for commitments for acquisition of property and equipment

•

100% Risk Weight for financial guarantees issued to third parties with respect to approved loans.

•

CRM techniques for reduction in Risk Weighted Assets against collaterals have not been applied.
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Market Risk:
Bank’s Trading Book comprises of only a small position in equities. Bank has assigned 8% Risk Weight for
Specific Risk and 8% Risk Weight for General Market Risk for the Equities held in the Trading Book.
Operational Risk:
For calculation of Capital Adequacy Ratio for Operational Risks, the bank has used average positive
Operating Profit for last three years (net interest income + other recurring income) excluding provisions
and operating expenses, staff expenses, depreciation and recoveries, profit/loss on sale of assets and
extraordinary items.
iI) Quantitative Disclosures
a) Risk Weighted Assets (RO ‘000s)
Sl
No

Details

Gross Balances
(Book Value)

Net Balances
(Book Value) *

Risk Weighted
Assets

1

On-balance sheet items

187,174

170,948

172,726

20,322

20,322

11,447

0

0

0

4
Total
207,496
* Net of Provisions, reserve interest and eligible collaterals

191,270

184,173

2

Off-balance items

3

Derivatives

b) Capital
Sl No.

Details

(RO 000s)

1

Tier I Capital

2

Tier 2 Capital

3

Total Regulatory Capital

4

Capital Requirement for credit risk

17,081

5

Capital Requirement for market risk

1,876

6

Capital Requirement for operational risk

3,144

7

Total required capital

163,799
2,116
165,915

22,101

8

Tier I Ratio (as a percentage of risk weighted assets)

88.9%

9

Total Capital Ratio (as a percentage of risk weighted assets)

90.1%

c) Risk Exposure and Assessment
Credit Risk - General Disclosures
Qualitative Disclosures
i) Risk Management Objectives and policies
The Bank has established Risk Management Policy approved by Board of Directors (BOD). The primary
responsibility for ensuring that the risks are appropriately managed is with the BOD, which shall set and
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approve the overall risk policies, limits, procedures and provide framework for Risk Management of the
Bank. The bank has set up an independent Risk Management Committee approved by the BOD to monitor
and review the implementation of risk management procedures approved by the Board. The formation and
the composition of the Risk Management Committee have been approved by the Central Bank of Oman.
The day-to-day management of risk, such as, identifying, monitoring, controlling, reporting, etc., lies with
the Risk Management Department and the line management. The risk policy addresses risks relevant to
areas of Credit, Market, Liquidity, and Operational Risks to which the bank is exposed.
The Board of Directors has approved implementation of Integrated Risk Management Framework and Risk
Based Internal Audit and the bank is in the process of changing over to the framework.
Credit Risk:
The Risk Policy covers the management of various areas of Credit Risk, such as, maximum prudential
exposure limits, exposure concentrations, credit sanctioning , approval norms, facility tenors, loan
classification and provisioning norms, management of problem loans, credit origination, due diligence
process, target sectors, credit assessment and underwriting standards, collateral management, risk rating
framework, disbursals, monitoring and follow-up, credit reviews, pricing, reporting and post sanction loan
review. The Credit Committee/ Board of Directors assess the credit worthiness of parties and business
viability, before an exposure is approved. The exposures are monitored through periodic site visits as
well as system generated MIS reports. Proactive action is taken by respective managers for exposures
requiring remedial /recovery action.
With regard to income recognition, assets classification and provisioning requirements, the bank follows
the relevant guidelines of Central Bank of Oman, especially the circular No.BM 977. The bank considers an
asset or an exposure to be impaired if in its opinion the realizable value of the assets or the exposure is less
than the accounting carrying value. A past due exposure arises when the customer / counterparty fails to
meet the contractual obligation to the bank towards payment of interest or principal or part thereof on due
date. As per CBO norms, the bank considers an exposure (non- retail) as non-performing if it continues to
remain past due for a period of 90 days or more.
The bank does not grant any consumer loans. All ODB loans up to and RO 50,000 are categorized as
Retail Portfolio and loans above RO 50,000 are treated as Corporate Portfolio. (The maximum loan is RO
1 Million per project).
In the case of Retail as well as Corporate Portfolio, the bank uses the following ageing criteria to classify
impaired exposures. Exposures that are over 59 days past due but less than 90 days are classified as
specially mentioned. Exposure that are over 89 days past due but less than 180 days are classified as substandard. Exposures past due for 180 days up to 364 days are classified Doubtful and exposures past due
for 365 days or more are classified as Loss.
The bank makes two types of provisions – specific provisions (for sub-standard, doubtful and loss classified
exposure) and general provision (for specially mentioned and standard exposure), as per CBO norms.
The bank makes a provision of 25%, 50% and 100% for loans classified sub-standard, doubtful and loss
respectively, with a minimum cash provision of 25% and the balance cash provision, as appropriate, net of
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eligible collateral. The bank makes general provision for retail loans (below and RO 50,000) @ 2% and @1%
for loans above RO 50,000 as per regulatory requirements.
During the year 2015, considering the economic situation, CBO had directed banks to make additional
provision of 15% of loan balances which were restructured and were not classified as non-performing.
Accordingly ODB has made this special specific provision in respect of 6 loans. The additional provision
made was RO 36,729. Subsequently during 2015, CBO has permitted banks to implement the 15%
provision in phases; 10% in 2015 and the balance 5% in 2016. However, ODB preferred to provide 15%
specific provision from year 2015 itself and to be continued in year 2016 until further directions from CBO.
During 2016, the CBO has issued detailed guidelines on restructured loans. Also, banks were allowed
to provide the special provision @ 5% of outstanding in respect of restructured or rescheduled loans,
which were not classified as non-performing. Also such loans are to be classified as Special Mention from
Standard. No loan will be in Standard Classification after restructuring. The performance period also is now
revised as below:
Special Mention or Substandard:

12 months

Doubtful:

18 months

From the start of new repayment period
of interest or principal whichever is later.

Loss:
24 months
The bank also calculates provision under IFRS requirements at the portfolio level. Under the CBO norms, the
requirement of provision was RO 11,184,524 (including reserve interest, but excluding general provision),
whereas as per IFRS requirement it was RO 10,880,791 as on 31-12-2016. The higher of the provision
requirement is taken.
In addition, the bank has created a non-distributable special/voluntary reserve by transferring a part of
its profits in order to meet any future contingencies or sudden losses. This has been approved by bank’s
Annual General Body. The special reserve was RO 5.541 million as of 31-12-2014. As a prudent measure,
a portion of current year income may also be allocated to special reserve to meet future provisions required
for new lending of the bank, subject to approval of bank’s Annual General Body Meeting.
From 2009 onwards, the bank is lending short term specific working capital credit facilities. The provisioning
policy is same as that is adopted for existing term loans and is in line with CBO guidelines.
Market risk:
The bank does not have a Trading Book comprising of debt securities, foreign exchange, commodities,
derivatives and other positions. The bank has Available-for Sale Equity Investments in the local market.
Operational Risk:
The Risk Policy deals with the various areas of Operational Risk. It covers procedures and controls to be
followed by each department, compliance functions, internal audit functions, policies and procedures for
managing human resources of the bank, money laundering, procedures for back-up and storage of data,
disaster recovery plan and security policies for access rights on the core banking system.

80

BASEL II – PILLAR III & BASEL III RELATED DISCLOSURES
FOR THE FULL YEAR 2016

Banking Book Interest Rate Risk:
The interest rate risk in the banking book arises due to maturity / re-pricing mismatches of the assets
and liabilities in the banking book. Bank need to manage this risk by analyzing the residual contractual
maturities of all interest bearing assets and liabilities. Interest rate risk is managed by the Assets and
Liability cum Investment Committee of the bank.
a) Till 2008, the bank’s interest bearing assets (mainly project loans) were on the fixed rate terms (interest
rate of 9% p.a. including government subsidy), which were funded by its own capital and reserves.
Therefore there was no impact of Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book. During 2015, the Ministry of
Finance has decided to reduce interest subsidy by 3% effective from 01-01-2015. With this, the interest
income including government subsidy has become 6% for term loans.
b) The bank is lending working capital loans at variable rates (market rates). The bank is accepting Fixed
Term Deposits (FTDs) at market rates. These have necessitated monitoring of interest rate risks.
The bank is analyzing the situation and taking adequate measures to manage the risks and bring in
mitigations to prevent any negative impact on the profitability. The situation in the future will change with
increase in commercial borrowings and the bank will face interest rate risk.
Liquidity Risk:
Liquidity risk is the risk the bank will face in obtaining funds to meet its obligations at any given time. The
bank’s liquidity management policies are designed to ensure that even under adverse conditions the bank
would be in a position to meet its obligations. Liquidity Risk is managed by the Assets and Liability Cum
Investment Committee which analyzes the Asset and Liability mismatches and ensures a positive gap.
From June 2009, the bank has started collecting fixed term Deposits from customers with the approval of
Central Bank of Oman. The bank is also working towards mobilizing resources through long term Bonds as
and when the need arises. The aim is to raise the funds for working capital lending by fixed term deposits
and find resources for long term loans from equity and long term bonds. However, as and when the bank
resorts to commercial borrowings for funding assets the bank might face liquidity risk, like any financial
intermediary institutions. The management is aware of the risk and will actively pursue steps to mitigate
this risk.
d) Equity:
Quoted Equity Investments are measured at market value. Unquoted investments are recognized at cost
and carried at fair value. These investments are managed under the guidance of the Asset and Liabilities
cum Investment Committee.
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Quantitative Disclosures
ii) Total gross credit risk exposures, plus average gross exposures over the period broken down by major
types of credit exposure
Amount (RO.000s)
Average Gross
Exposure

Sl. No Type of Credit Exposure
1

Overdraft

2

Staff Loan (Personal)

3

WC- Loans +LTR+ Pre-shipment Loans

4

Other Loans (Term Loans)

5

Bills Purchased / Discounted

6

Any Other (Staff Housing Loan)

7

Total

Total Gross
Exposure

Current
Year

Previous
Year

31 Dec
2016

31 Dec
2015

0

0

0

0

30

28

32

29

4,182

4,133

4,413

3,941

119,536

117,285

122,376

116,706

0

0

1,686

1,555

1,803

1,568

125,434

123,000

128,624

122,244

iii) Geographic distribution of exposures, broken down in significant areas by major types of credit
exposure(RO.000s)
Sl No

Type of Credit
Exposure

1

Overdraft

2

Personal Loans
(Staff Loan)

3

4

Oman

Other GCC
countries

OECD
Countries*

India

Pakistan

Others

Total

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

0

0

32

32

WC- Loans +LTR+
Pre-shipment
Loans

4,413

4,413

Other Loans (Term
Loans)

122,376

122,376

1,803

1,803

5

Bills Purchased /
Discounted

6

Any Other (Staff
Housing Loan)

7
Total
128,624
128,624
* excluding countries included in column 2 [includes staff personal loans and staff Housing Loans)
iv) Industry or counterparty type distribution of exposures, broken down by major types of credit exposure.
(RO.000s)
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Sl.
No.

Economic Sector

1

Import Trade

2

Export Trade

3

Wholesale & Retail Trade

4

Mining & Quarrying

5

Construction

6

Manufacturing

7

Electricity, Gas and Water

8

Transport & Communication

9

Financial Institutions

10
11

Overdraft

Term
Loans

0

754

0

40,338

WC
loans

Others

Total

Off B/S
Exposure

754

855

3,671

44,009

7,605

734

0

734

44

0

528

5

533

24

Services

0

39,667

412

40,079

9,063

Personal Loans (Staff loan)

0

12

Agriculture & Allied activities

0

39,611

326

13

Government

14

Non-Resident Lending

15

All others

0

744

0

16

Total

0 122,376

4,413

32

32
39,937

2,700

1,803

2,547

31

1,835

128,624

20,322

v) Residual contractual maturity breakdown of whole portfolio, broken down by major types of credit
exposure. (RO.000s)
Sl.
No.

Time Band

Overdraft Term Loans

WC loans

Others

Total

Off B/S
Exposure

1

Up to 1 month

0

10,677

1501

14

12,190

3,427

2

1- 3 months

0

4,195

1673

27

5,895

1,885

3

3-6 months

0

6,084

1197

54

7,335

2,370

40

4

6-9 months

0

6,343

5

9-12 months

0

7,404

6

1-3 years

0

46,381

7

3-5 years

0

27,753

8

Over 5 years

0

9

Total

2

13,539
122,376

4,413

33

6,416

678

33

7,437

2,077

344

46,727

9,885

318

28,071

1,012

14,551

1,835

128,624

20,322
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vi)

By major industry or counter party type: (RO.000s)

Sl.
No.

Economic
Sectors

1
2

Import Trade
Export Trade

3

Wholesale&
Retail Trade
Mining&
Quarrying
Construction
Manufacturing
Electricity, Gas
and Water
Transport&
Communication
Financial
Institutions
Services

4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12

13
14
15

Personal
Loans(staff)
Agriculture&
Allied
Activities
Government
Non-Resident
Lending
All others

Gross
Loans

Of
which
NPLs

General
Provision
Held

Specific
Provision
Held

Reserve
Interest

Provision
made
during the
year

Advances
Written off
during the
year

754

8

8

4

0

1,026

50

44,009
734

5,246
48

543
13

2,948
18

823
22

233

3

532

304

4

78

131

85

-

-

40,079

7,053

1,703

825

133

32

2

39,936

4,598

333

553

22

-

-

2,547

100

39

-4

394

2,499
2

675

2,669

-

9

62

16 Total
128,624 17,359
1,644
8,280
3,051
2,718
208
*Specific Provision made, less provision released. There is net provision made to the extent of RO 2,718 K
during 2016.
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vii) Amount of impaired loans, if available, past due loans provided separately broken down significant
geographic areas including if practical the amounts of specific and general allowances related to each
geographical area. (RO.000s)
Sl. Countries
No.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7

Oman
Other GCC
countries
OECD
countries
India
Pakistan
Others
Total

Gross
Loans

Of
General
which Provisions
NPLs
Held

Specific Reserve Provisions Advances
Provisions Interest
made
Written
Held
during the Off during
year
the year
8,280
3,051
2,718
208

128,624

17,359

1,644

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0
0
0
128,624

0
0
0
17,359

0
0
0
1,644

0
0
0
8,280

0
0
0
3,051

0
0
0
2,718

0
0
0
208

viii) Movement on Gross Loans
ODB has been submitting BOSS reports from June 2008, after the implementation of the new core banking
system.
Movement of Gross Loans during the quarter ending 31/12/2016 - (RO ‘000)
Sr.
No.
1
2
3
4

Performing Loans
Details
Opening Balance
Migration/changes
(+/-)
New Loans
Recovery of Loans

Non-Performing Loans
SubDoubtful
Loss
Standard
5,156
4,068
8,997

Total

Standard

S.M

98,756

7,618

2,494

2,038

(2,326)

(2,165)

(41)

-

14,811

5,929

10,417

5,610

2,121

38,888

15,712

6,503

9,203

4,428

848

36,694

124,595

5
Loans written off
1
1
6
Closing Balance
100,349
9,082
4,044
3,085
10,228
126,788
7
Provision Held *
1,645
145
997
1,218
5,918
9,923
8
Reserve Interest
54
60
2,937
3,051
* Indicate the general provisions held under performing loans and specific provisions under non-performing
loans.
e) Credit Risk: Disclosures for Portfolios subject to the Standardized Approach
Qualitative Disclosures
a) For portfolio under standardized approach, bank has not used assessments by External Credit
Assessment Institutions (ECAIs) for claims on corporates and banks, but has instead used 100% risk
weight for them considering the nature of Bank’s operations and size.
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b) Quantitative Disclosures
c) The bank has not reduced exposure / applied risk mitigation based on external (ECAI) ratings.
f) Credit Risk Mitigation: Disclosures for Standardization Approaches
Qualitative Disclosures
a) The bank has not used Credit Risk Mitigation through collaterals for reducing the Risk Weighted Assets.
b) The bank has not used on and off-balance sheet netting.
c) The bank has a Collateral Policy, which covers types of eligible collaterals, valuation, maintenance
procedures and management. In accepting collaterals, the bank considers the ease of enforceability,
and liquidity for tangible collaterals as well as creditworthiness and financial strength of guarantors. The
bank makes an endeavor to avoid concentration of collaterals (credit and market) as far as possible.
While accepting collaterals the bank evaluates the correlation, if any, between the value of collateral and
the credit quality of the counterparty.
d) The bank endeavor’s to obtain acceptable collateral cover for its exposures as far as commercially
practicable. The primary collateral for loan exposures is project assets financed by the bank. However,
where feasible and required, the bank accepts other collaterals to mitigate the credit risk. The eligible
collaterals include Pledge of Cash/ Deposit, Bonds& Shares; Bank Guarantees, Mortgage over
Real Estate, Commercial Charge over Assets, Joint Registration over Assets, Personal / Corporate
Guarantees, Assignment of Insurance Policies (Life/ Fire, etc.).
e) These collaterals are integrated in internal risk rating model to quantify the risk and assess the Loss
Given Default (LGD)
f)

Collaterals, such as, real estate and shares are valued periodically. Values of Shares are updated based
on the latest market value. Real estate is valued by reputed valuers every three years.

g) Documentation for perfection of security interest in the collateral is verified by the legal department. The
security documentation is maintained in fire proof cabinets.
h) The bank periodically checks and updates the documentation and ensures continuity of enforceability
by keeping the related documents (life insurance, fire insurance, etc.) up to date.
Quantitative Disclosures
The bank has not used Credit Mitigation for reducing the Risk Weighted Assets.
g) Market Risk in Trading Book: Disclosures for Banks using the Standardized duration Approach
Qualitative Disclosures
a) As far as the Market Risk is concerned, Bank’s Trading Book comprises of only a small position in
equities. The bank is not exposed to commodity risk and foreign exchange risk as it neither deals in
commodities nor in foreign currencies. Bank has assigned 8% Risk Weight for Specific Risk and 8%
Risk Weight for Market Risk for the Equities held in the trading Book.
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Quantitative Disclosures
a) The capital requirement of Equity Position Risk is the following:
Market Value
of Equity
(RO 000s)

(A)
Specific
Risk (8%)

(B)
General Market
Risk (8%)

(C)
RWA
[(A) + (B)]*12.5

Capital
Requirement
[12% of (C)]

7,817

625

625

15,634

1,876

h) Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (IRRBB)
Qualitative Disclosure
a) Till 2008, the bank’s interest bearing assets (mainly project loans) were on the fixed rate terms (interest
rate of 9% p.a. including government subsidy), which were funded by its own capital and reserves.
Therefore there was no impact of Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book.
During 2015, the Ministry of Finance has decided to reduce interest subsidy by 3% effective from 0101-2015. With this, the interest income including government subsidy has become 6%. In 2009, the
bank had resorted to short term borrowings from banks to meet short term needs. With the injection
of fresh equity, there was no much impact on the profitability. During the later years, the bank has not
availed bank borrowings due to infusion of additional share capital.
b) From 2009, the bank started disbursing working capital loans at variable rates (market rates) to its
existing clients in a small way. The bank also started accepting Fixed Term Deposits (FTDs) at market
rates. These have necessitated monitoring of interest rate risks. The situation in the future will change
with increase in commercial borrowings and the bank will face interest rate risk. The bank is analyzing
the situation and taking adequate measures to manage the risks will bring in any mitigation to prevent
negative impact on the profitability.
Quantitative Disclosure
As mentioned above, there was no impact of upward or downward rate shock as interest bearing assets
were at fixed rates and the bank funded its asset portfolio mostly from its own capital and reserves. In the
coming 2- 3 years, the bank will be able to operate with own equity and the bank’s cost of fund is expected
to be higher in later years if costly funds are raised, This will impact profitability.
As of 31/12/2016, the bank has outstanding fixed term deposits liability of RO 0.589 Million. The weighted
average rate of interest as of 31/12/2016 is 1.03 % p.a.
As of 31/12/2016, there are no outstanding bank borrowings.
i) Liquidity Risk
Qualitative Disclosure
a) Liquidity Risk is managed by the Assets and Liability cum Investment Committee of the bank. Asset
Liability mismatches are analyzed and a positive gap is ensured. As all long term assets of the bank
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were funded by Equity plus reserves and there was no Liquidity Risk arising out of Asset and Liabilities
mismatches.
b) During the year 2009, to manage short term liquidity, the bank did resort to short term interbank
borrowings. The bank has also started collecting fixed term Deposits from the customers with the
approval of Central Bank of Oman. The bank will consider mobilizing resources through long term
Bonds when the need arises. The aim is to raise the funds for working capital lending by fixed term
deposits and find resources for long term loans from equity and long term bonds. However, as and
when the bank resorts to commercial borrowings for funding assets, the bank will face liquidity risk. The
management is aware of the risk and will actively pursue steps to mitigate them.
Quantitative Disclosure
As mentioned above, there was no impact of liquidity risk arising out of mismatches in assets and liabilities
as all assets were mostly funded by the bank’s equity. As of 31/12/2016, the deposits outstanding in the
bank are worth RO 0.589 Million. However, there was no outstanding bank borrowing as of that date.
j) Operational Risk
Qualitative Disclosure
The Risk Policy of the bank specifies the policies relating to Operational Risks and covers areas, such as,
Human Resources, IT, Operational Procedures, Compliance, Internal Audit, Money Laundering, etc.
The bank has used the Basic Indicator Approach for calculating the capital adequacy for Operational Risk.
The bank has considered average positive Gross Income for last three years. The Gross Income is the
aggregate of Net Interest Income and non-interest Income and excludes extra ordinary income and realized
profit on Held to Maturity or Available for Sale investments. The Gross Income also excludes provisions and
operating expenses and also staff expenses, depreciation and recoveries.
There are no major regulatory/supervisory actions taken against the bank during the year. No penalties have
been imposed.

4. Overview and Conclusion
The bank’s BIS capital adequacy ratio was 90.1% at as at the end of December 2016, as against a minimum
of 13.25% (including capital conservation buffer and Counter Cyclic Buffer under Basel III) required by
regulatory authorities.
Against the CBO stipulation of CET1, Tier 1 and Total Capital levels of 8.25%, 10.25% and 13.25%
respectively, the actual ratios as of 31-12-2016 are 88.9%, 88.9% and 90.1% respectively.
The bank has created and implemented a risk management control and evaluation system that is responsive
to current requirements, is compliant with Basel II requirements of Central Bank of Oman and generally
meets the objectives for the complexity and size of the bank.
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Basel III-Net Stable Funding Ratio
Report for the Month of December 2016
Bank: OMAN DEVELOPMENT BANK SAOC 						
Available stable funding
Factor Component
1
2
3

Tier 1 capital
Tier II capital
Other Preferred shares & capital instruments in excess of Tier
2 allowable amount, having an effective maturity of one year
or greater
4
Other liabilities with effective maturities >1 year
5
Stable deposits of retail/small business customers-perpetual
or residual maturity<1 year
6
Less Stable deposits of retail/small business customersresidual maturity< 1 year
7
Wholesale funding provided by sovereign Central banks,
Non financial Corporate customers, multilateral development
banks and PSEs-perpetual or residual maturity < 1 year
8
All other liabilities and equity, not included above
9
Total available stable funding
Required stable funding
10 Cash
11 Short Term unsecured actively traded instruments with
maturity <1 year
12 Securities with exactly offsetting reverse repo
13 Securities with residual maturity <1 year
14 Non-renewable loans to financial institutions with residual
maturity <1 year
15 Debt issued or guaranteed by sovereign, central
banks,BIS,IMF,EU,non-central
government,multilateral
development banks with a 0% risk weights as per Basel II
standardised approach
16 Unencumbered non-financial senior unsecured corporate
bonds and covered bonds rated atleast AA-, and debt issued
by sovereigns,central banks and PSEs with a risk weight of
20%, maturity >=1 year
17 Unencumbered listed equity securities or non financial senior
unsecured corporate bonds (or covered bonds) rated A+ to
A-, maturity >=1 year
18 Gold
19 Loans to non-financial corporate clients, sovereigns,central
banks and PSEs with maturity < 1 year

(RO ‘000)
Weighted
amount
163,799
2,116
-

100%
100%
100%

163,799
2,116
-

100%
90%

589

530

80%

-

-

50%

-

-

0%

166,504

166,445

0%
0%

136
0

-

0%
0%
0%

0

-

5%

17,403

870

20%

-

-

50%

8,155

4,077

50%
50%

0
0

-
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Available stable funding
20 Unencumbered residential mortgages of any maturity and
other unencumbered loans excluding loans to financial
institutuions with a remaining maturity of >=1 year that would
qualify for 35% or lower risk weight under Basel II standardised
approach for credit risk
21 Other loans to retail clients and small businesses having a
maturity < 1 year
22 All Other assets
23 Sub total
Off balance sheet exposures
24 Undrawn amount of committed credit and liquidity facilities
25 Other contingent funding obligations
26 Total required stable funding
27 NSFR (%)

Factor Component
65%

0

Weighted
amount
-

85%

28,199

23,970

100%

2,601

2,601

56,494

31,519

20,281
26
76,801

1,014
1
32,534
511.599

5%
5%

Statement on Liquiidity Coverage Ratio
Report for the month of December 2016
Bank: OMAN DEVELOPMENT BANK SAOC 						
Stock of HQLA
Factor Unweighted
amount
Level 1 assets
1
Coins and bank notes
100%
136
2
Qualifying central bank reserves
100%
0
3
Qualifying marketable securities from sovereigns,central 100%
0
banks, PSEs and multilateral development banks
4
Domestic sovereign or Central Bank debt for non-0% risk 100%
17,403
weighted sovereigns
5
Total Level 1 assets
17,540
Level 2A
6
Sovereign,CB,PSE, multilateral development banks assets 85%
0
(qualifying for 20% risk weighing)
7
Qualifying Corporate debt securities AA- or higher
85%
8
Qualifying Covered bonds AA- or higher
85%
9
Total Level 2A
0
Level 2B
10 Qualifying RMBS
75%
11 Qualifying corporate debt securities, rated between A+ and 50%
BBB12 Qualifying common equity shares
50%
8,155
13 Total Level 2B (maximum 15% of HQLA)
8,155
14 Total level 2 assets (Maximum 40% of HQLA)
8,155
15 Total Stock of high quality liquid assets
25,695
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(RO ‘000)
Weighted
amount
136
0
0
17,403
17,540
0
0
0
0
0
0
4,077
4,077
4,077
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Stock of HQLA

Factor

Cash outflows
A. Retail Deposits (Customer Deposits)
Demand Deposits + Term Deposits with residual maturity upto 30 days
16 Stable deposits (deposit insurance scheme meets addl
3%
criteria)
17 Stable Deposits
5%
18 Less Stable retail Deposits
10%
19 Term Deposits with residual maturity of more than 30 days
0%
B. Unsecured Wholesale Funding
20 Demand and term deposits (less than 30 days) -stable
5%
deposits
21 Less Stable deposits
10%
22 Non financial corporates, sovereigns,central banks and PSE
40%
23 If entire portion covered by deposit insurance
20%
24 Cooperative banks in an institutional network (qualifying 25%
deposits with with the centralised institution)
25 Other legal entity customers
100%
26 Operational deposits generated by clearing, custody and 25%
cash management activities
27 Portion covered by deposit insurance
5%
C. Secured Funding
28 Secured funding transactions with a central bank or backed
0%
by Level I assets with any counterparty
29 Secured funding transactions backed by Level 2A assets 15%
with any counterparty
30 Secured funding transactions backed by non level 1 or non 25%
level 2A assets with domestic Sovereign,domestic PSE,
multilateral development banks as a counterparty
31 Backed by RMBS eligible for inclusion in level 2B
25%
32 Backed by other level 2B assets
50%
33 All other secured funding transactions
100%
D. Additional Requirements
34 Liquidity needs (e.g. collateral calls)related to financing 100%
transactions,derivatives and other contracts , downgrade of
up to 3 notches
35 Market valuation changes on derivatives (largest absolute net 100%
30 day collateral flows realised during preceding 24 monthslook back approach)
36 Valuation changes on non-level 1 posted collateral securing 20%
derivatives
37 Excess collateral held by a bank related to derivative 100%
transactions contractually callable at any time by its
counterparty
38 Liquidity needs related to collateral contractually due from 100%
reporting bank on derivative transactions

Unweighted
amount

Weighted
amount

-

0

6
0
228

0
0
0

0

0

0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0

0
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Stock of HQLA

Factor

39 Increased Liquidity needs related to derivative transactions 100%
that allow collateral substitution to non-HQLA assets
40 Liabilities maturing from SPV’s, ABCP’s and SIV’s etc. (applied 100%
to maturing amounts and returnable assets)
41 Asset backed securities (including covere bonds) applied to 100%
maturing amounts
Currently undrawn portion of credit lines
42 (i) Retail and small business
5%
43 (ii)Non Financial corporates, Sovereign,CB,PSEs, multilateral 10%
development banks credit facility
44 (iii)Non Financial corporates, Sovereign,CB,PSEs, multilateral 30%
development banks -liquidity facility
45 (iv) Banks subject to prudential supervision
40%
46 (v) Other Financial Institutions credit
40%
47 (vi) Other Financial institutions-liquidity
100%
48 (vii) Other Legal entity customers, credit and liquidity facilities 100%
49 Other contingent funding liabilities (L/cs,LGs)
5%
50 Trade finance
5%
51 Customer short positions covered by other customers’ 50%
collateral
52 Any Other outflows
100%
53 Total cash outflows
Cash Inflows
Maturing secured lending transactions backed by following collateral:54 Level 1 assets
0%
55 Level 2A assets
15%
56 Level 2B assets-eligible RMBS
25%
57 Other assets
50%
58 Margin lending backed by all other collaterals
50%
59 All other assets
100%
60 Amts to be received from retail counterparties
50%
61 Amounts to be received from non financial wholesale 50%
counterparties from transactions other than those listed.
62 Amounts to be received from financial institutions and central 100%
banks from transactions other than those listed
63 Credit or liquidity facilities provided to the reporting bank
0%
64 Operational deposits held at other financial institutions
0%
65 Other contractual cash inflows
100%
66 Net derivatives cash inflows
100%
67 Total cash inflows
68 75% of outflows
69 Inflows restricted to 75% of outflows
70 Net cash Outflow
71 LCR (%)
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Unweighted
amount

Weighted
amount
0
0
0

6,540
0

327
0
0

0

0

26
6,800

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
26
353

-

0
0
0
1,761
-

-

-

3,521

3,521

1,761
265
265
88
24,473.74

